
 
 
 

CDTA COMMITTEE AGENDA 
Performance Management/Audit Committee 

Wednesday, January 21, 2026 | 12:00 PM  
Microsoft Teams & 110 Watervliet Ave 

 
 
Committee Item                 Responsibility 
 
Call to Order                  Peter Wohl 
 
Approve Minutes of Thursday, November 19, 2025             Peter Wohl 
 
Consent Agenda Items 

• Approve Contract for Scheduling Services             Stacy Sansky 
• Approve Annual Procurement Report              Stacy Sansky 
• Approve Safety Management System Plan             Richard Nasso 

 
Audit Committee 

• Approve the Internal Auditor Annual Independence            Sarah Matrose 
and Objectivity Statement 

• Approve Audit Charter                Sarah Matrose 
 
Administrative Discussion Item    

• Monthly Management (Financial) Report              Patricia Cooper 
• Monthly Non-Financial (Performance) Report             Richard Cordero 

   
 
 
Next Meeting: Wednesday, February 18, 2026, at 12:00pm via Microsoft Teams and 110 Watervliet Ave. 
 
  
Adjourn                                                                                                                   Peter Wohl 
 
 
 
 



Capital District Transportation Authority  
Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee 
Meeting Minutes – November 19, 2025, at 12:03pm ; 110 Watervliet Avenue, Albany 
 
In Attendance: Denise Figueroa; Frank Annicaro, Chris Desany, Lance Zarcone, Amanda Avery, 
Jaime Kazlo, Jon Scherzer, Dave Williams, Stacy Sansky, Thomas Guggisberg, Rich Cordero, 
Patricia Cooper, Jeremy Smith, Jack Grogan, Sarah Matrose, Gary Guy, Kelli Schreivogl,  
Mike Williams, Melissa Shanley, Jeanette Stumbaugh, Elide Oyanedel, Emily DeVito,  
Keosha Miles, Calvin Young 
 
Meeting Purpose   
Regular monthly meeting of the Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee. Minutes from 
October 23, 2025, meeting were reviewed and approved. 
 
Consent Agenda Items 
Approve Contract Award to Accept State Funding Presented by Melissa Shanley 

• The New York State Department of Transportation requires a CDTA Board resolution 
prior to being reimbursed for expenses incurred as part of this agreement, which is a 10% 
New York State match for federal grants/  

• This serves to match federal 5307 and 5339 funds. This covers funding toward vehicle 
lifts, preventive maintenance, shelters, safety barriers, vehicle maintenance software, 
video mirrors, and IT replacements. 

• A resolution to approve NYS DOT’s execution of an agreement to accept $2,920,741 in 
funding will be recommended to the board.  
 

 
Administrative Discussion Items 
Risk Management & Workers’ Compensation Quarterly Report 

• CDTA is self-insured for most liability exposures up to $2 million. These claims include 
bodily injury, property damage, and certain other claims including no-fault.  

• Deducted losses are up slightly—just over $1.4M; Market value of risk management 
account: $3.6M; Workers comp account: $11.5M. 

• We are working to reduce certain claim types, and a high-level data analysis is underway. 
• The balances of the Risk Management and Workers’ Compensation Self-Insurance 

Accounts are adequate to meet the anticipated needs of CDTA and its subsidiaries at the 
present time. 

 
Monthly Management (Financial) Report  

• MRT is 33% over budget for the month. YTD MRT is 25% over budget.  
• Customer fares are near budget for October. YTD customer fares are 5 % under budget. 



• Miscellaneous income spiked due to the sale of a parcel at the Uncle Sam Garage in 
Troy. 

• Wages are below budget 3.72% for October and 5.61% YTD.  
• Purchased Transportation is 7.5% over budget for October and 8.1% over budget YTD. 

The monthly increase is driven by record-high STAR trips for the month of October.  

• Other Benefits are over budget 17.8% in October but are only 3.8% over budget YTD.  

• Overall, we are in a satisfactory budget position, with a surplus of $3 million.  
 
Monthly Non-Financial (Performance) Report  

• Overall system performance for October 2025 reflects a slight growth trend. Total 
ridership is 0.3% higher YTD than the prior fiscal year.  

• System-wide On-Time Performance (OTP) is up 6% YTD, and is attributed to service 
rebalancing, rescheduling, and continuous monitoring. 

• Service cuts are vastly reduced: 38 in October vs. 390 same time last year. 
• Slight uptick in both preventable and non-preventable accidents, some related to ongoing 

property construction 
• October saw 36,000 STAR rides, 2,000 rides higher than any prior month. 
• There was a decrease in “OTP” due to late trips up. 
• Predictive analysis underway to better forecast spikes (focusing on known peak months). 
• Feedback volume up 32.5% Year over year. 
• Issues are predominantly about operator conduct and reliability on fixed route service. 
• Most complaints about bus lines are the 1, 355, 905, 100, and 370. 
• Additional supervision, monitoring, and Tech Valley ambassador program to be utilized 

for targeted improvement. 
 
 
Next Meeting 
Wednesday, January 21, 2026, at 12:00pm via Microsoft Teams and at 110 Watervliet Ave. 



Capital District Transportation Authority 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 
Subject:  Approve Purchase of Scheduling Services        
Committee:  Performance Monitoring/Audit  
Meeting Date: January 21, 2026   
 
Objective of Purchase or Service:  
To purchase professional services to make the most efficient use of HASTUS, our fixed route 
scheduling software.   
 
Summary of Staff Proposal:  
HASTUS software, provided by GIRO Inc., is used for fixed route scheduling, run cutting, work 
bidding, daily work and vehicle assignments including operator payroll tracking, stop 
information displays, trip planning, development of stop/route/network maps and tracking 
customer comments. It is one of the most widely used and complex applications in place at 
CDTA. This system was competitively procured in 2000. 
 
Courval Scheduling Inc., with offices in Chicago and Montreal, provides a unique set of skills 
and software licensing to deliver professional services on the use of the HASTUS suite of 
products. Courval Scheduling has been a strategic partner with GIRO for over a decade, and 
since 2016 has been the exclusive holder of sublicensing rights for small and medium sized 
North American transit agencies.  
 
Over the past five years, several new HASTUS software modules have been implemented in our 
Planning, Scheduling, Customer Information, and Transportation departments. The largest of 
these was completed in March 2022 with the introduction of HASTUS Daily to manage work 
and vehicle assignments, payroll, and attendance. Based on the extent and critical nature of 
HASTUS, combined with the rebalancing of services over the last year and a new HASTUS 
2026 version being deployed later this year, additional professional services are needed.    
  
Over the past three years, we have been working with Courval Scheduling to assist us in several 
areas including:   
 

• Training and mentoring of CDTA staff on best practices for more efficient scheduling, 
run cutting, and crewing of daily work and vehicle assignments.  

• Staff supplementation services for scheduling, run cutting, and crewing among other 
functions to fill staff capacity, transitions, and onboarding.  

• Advanced scheduling analysis to improve the overall cost, efficiency, and work quality 
for Operators as part of the larger effort of service rebalancing and optimization.     

• Providing “one off” tasks such as evaluating the technical viability of implementing a 
four-day work week and testing new releases.   

 
This purchase of scheduling services will include another “deep dive” review of CDTA’s 
existing schedule design, rules, parameters, and standard operating procedures to ensure the 
efficient and effective use of HASTUS as we continue to rebalance service. This includes 
looking at our unique system configuration to implement battery electric buses, addressing 
operator shortages and retention issues, modifying payroll requirements, and optimizing fixed 
route services, where needed.          



 
A sole source purchase is recommended based on several important considerations. Most 
importantly, Courval Scheduling has an exclusive strategic partnership with GIRO for these 
services, and is the sole holder of sublicensing rights for HASTUS. This precludes us from 
pursuing these services through another vendor. Additional reasons to support this 
recommendation include: 

 
• Courval Scheduling has extensive experience providing similar services to dozens of 

large, medium, and small transit agencies across the United States and Canada. This 
includes private transit operators such as Keolis, First Group, and Transdev.    

• Courval Scheduling is familiar with all the technical, functional, and business aspects of 
the full suite of HASTUS modules used at CDTA.  

• Utilizing this vendor will require no third-party integration or customization, which 
reduces the risk inherent in third party vendor development.  

• We have documentation on file noting how the cost is justified by vendors performing 
similar work, which confirms fair and reasonable pricing.    

 
Financial Summary/Cost:  
Work will be funded by the workforce development portion of the low-no emissions federal 
grant program. A summary of the costs is provided below.  
 

Description  Cost  
Project Management Services  $24,400  
Scheduling Optimization and System Upgrade Services  $175,100   
Training Services   $86,100   
Supplemental Staffing Services   $39,400  

Annual Cost Totals: $325,000  
 
Proposed Action:  
I am requesting that a three-year contract be awarded to Courval Scheduling, Inc. of Laval QC, 
for the purchase of professional scheduling services for an amount not to exceed $325,000.   
   
Manager: 
Thomas Guggisberg, Director of Information Technology  
 

  



CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Staff Contract Award Certification 

1.   TYPE OF CONTRACT (check one): 
__ _ Construction & Maintenance  _ ___ Goods, Commodities & Supplies  ____ Bus Purchase 
X_ Services & Consultants   __ __ Transportation & Operational Services 
 

2.   TERMS OF PERFORMANCE (check one): 
_ X_ _ One-Shot Deal:  Complete scope and fixed value  
____ Fixed Fee For Services:  Time and materials - open value 
__  _ Exclusive Purchase Contract:  Fixed cost for defined commodity with indefinite quantity 
____ Open Purchase Contract:  Commitment on specifications and price but no obligation to buy 
____ Change Order:  Add on to existing contract 

 

3.   CONTRACT VALUE: 
 _$325,000  fixed estimated  (circle one) 

 

4.   PROCUREMENT METHOD (check one):   
_ ___ Request for Proposals (RFP)  __ __ Invitation for Bids (IFB)   _X___ Other 
 

5.   TYPE OF PROCEDURE USED (check one):   
____ Micro Purchases (Purchases up to $2,499.00)  ____ Small Purchases ($25,000 up to $$100,000) 
__ _ Sealed Bid/Invitation for Bids (IFB) (Over $100,000) __ __ Request for Proposals (RFP)  
____ Professional Services (Over $25,000)   __X__ Sole or Single Source (Non-Competitive) 
 

6.   SELECTION CRITERION USED: 
Number of Proposals/Bids Solicited    #_1____ or     Advertised 
Number of Proposals/Bids Received   #_1______ 
 

Attach Summary of Bids/Proposals 

7. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) involvement 

Are there known DBEs that provide this good or service? Yes No 

Number of DBEs bidding/proposing   __________ 

DBE Certification on file?     Yes No Not Applicable 

Was contract awarded to a DBE?    Yes No 

Number of DBE Subcontractors    ____0______ 

DBE Subcontractor Name and Certification Type:  

 

8.   LEGAL NAME and ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/VENDOR: Courval Scheduling, Inc.______________________ 

          300 Lacasse Avenue__________________________ 

          Laval, QC H7K 1J4_________________ _________ 

8.   SOURCE OF FUNDS: _Lo/No Federal Grant 

 

9.   COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AND FEDERAL RULES: 
 Non-Collusion Affidavit of Bidder                  (Yes, No, N/A) 
 Disclosure & Certificate of Prior Non-Responsibility Determinations              (Yes, No, N/A) 
 Disclosure of Contacts (only RFPs)                  (Yes, No, N/A) 

Certification with FTA’s Bus Testing Requirements                (Yes, No, N/A) 
 

10.  RESPONSIBLE STAFF CERTIFIES THE INTEGRITY OF THIS PROCUREMENT/CONTRACT:  
   

__Stacy Sansky, Director of Procurement_____ DATED:   __January 21, 2026 _ _________   



Capital District Transportation Authority 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 
 
Subject: Summary of vehicles, equipment, and parts disposed of in 2025 
Committee:  Performance Monitoring/Audit  
Meeting Date: January 21, 2026 
 
 
Objective of Purchase or Service:  
CDTA disposes of items that have surpassed their useful life, are no longer needed, or not 
working properly and then reports on these disposals on an annual basis. 
 
Summary of Staff Proposal:  
Vehicles are auctioned to the highest bidder on eBay. If no bid is received it is sold for scrap 
metal value.  Some vehicles are donated to not-for-profit organizations or transferred to other 
federally funded transit systems. Electronics are often auctioned off to employees. Other items 
with little or no value on the open market were recycled or disposed of in the most 
environmentally friendly way possible. 
 
Financial Summary/Cost: 
$101,810 was returned to the operating budget. CDTA collected sales tax for applicable 
transactions. 
 
Proposed Action:  
I recommend approval of the annual surplus sale report. 
   
Manager: 
Stacy Sansky, Director of Procurement 
 
Notes: 
The itemized list of disposed items is attached. 
 

  



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 Memorandum 

 
 
January 21, 2026 
 
To:                    Members, Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee  
 
From:   Stacy Sansky, Director of Procurement 
 
Subject:  Calendar Year 2025 Procurement Report Summary   
 
This is the annual report on procurement activities.  This report reviews the procurement process 
for surplus sales, change orders, sole source contracts and our Minority/Women Business 
Enterprise (MWBE)/Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Business (SDVOB) programs. 
 
Surplus Sale 
A surplus sale is a method for staff to dispose of equipment, vehicles and parts that have 
surpassed their useful life.  Items are disposed through recycling, donation, and sale through 
eBay.  Sales tax is collected for applicable transactions.  
 
The 2025 proceeds from surplus sales were $101,810.84.  These funds have been returned to the 
operating budget.  For comparison purposes, in 2024 the proceeds were $50,327, in 2023 the 
proceeds were $87,528, 2022 the proceeds were $37,301. 
 
The Agenda Action Proposal is attached for the 2025 Surplus Sales.        
 
Change Orders 
A change order is work that is added to or deleted from the original scope of a contract, which 
alters the original contract amount and/or completion date. Change orders that exceed 20% of the 
original contract value or $100,000 (whichever is greater) require Board approval.  There were 
no change orders that required Board approval. 
 
For informational purposes, there were change orders that fell under the Board approval 
threshold for the past year.  As CDTA had projects in various stages of completion this is not 
unusual. 
 
Sole Source Contracts 
Sole source contracts are used when no competition is available or when there is an emergency 
procurement. All sole source contracts valued at $50,000 or more that are not on New York State 
Contract, require Board approval. Sole source agreements are closely monitored and minimized 
whenever possible.  During 2025 there were several sole source agreements under the Board 
approval threshold with a combined value of $125,995. Projects included: purchase of software, 
and consulting services. 
 
Minority/Women’s Business Enterprise (MWBE) 



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 The Minority/Women’s Business Enterprise (MWBE) program is a state required initiative to 

level the playing field for qualified minority/women owned businesses in the state. 
 
We met our MWBE participation target to meet the state mandated goal of 30%.  Our MWBE 
participation rate for the prior three calendar years (CY) was 30%.   
 
In addition to current contracts with MWBE firms, the following contracts were issued that to 
MWBE contractors during CY2025: 

• Managed Print Services (WBE) 
• Electrical Contractor for Bus Shelters (WBE) 
• Rail Station Security (MBE) 

 
Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Business (SDVOB) 
The Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Business (SDVOB) program is a state required initiative 
with the aim of fostering business opportunities between state agencies and authorities and 
Service-Disabled Veterans. 
 
We have an ambitious state mandated utilization of 6% for this program with slightly more than 
1,000 certified firms in the directory. 
 
CDTA utilization was 4.5%. The previous year was 6.00%. While CDTA fell short of the 
mandated participation, staff continues outreach to engage with SDVOB for procurement 
opportunities. 
 
Contracts and purchases from SDVOB during CY2025: 

• Facilities Equipment & Supplies 
• Print & Copy Services 
• Office Supplies 

 
Recommendation 
There are no recommended changes to these programs. 
 
Copy: Chief Executive Officer 
 Chief Operating Officer 



Part/Bus/Tag # Description VIN if applicable  Mileage/Serial # Sold To Amount Date
276 Ford Shuttle Bus 2016 1FDEE3F67KDC03219 129623 Donation to Teresian House Nursing Home Co., In$0.00 1/14/2025
4056 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2713A1177840 570074 Scrap $3,290.00 3/4/2025
4057 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2715A1177841 572223 Scrap $3,087.50 3/13/2025
4059 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2719A1177843 536872 Scrap $3,077.51 3/13/2025
4060 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2710A1177844 616738 Scrap $3,102.51 3/4/2025
4061 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2712A1177845 569474 Scrap $3,117.49 3/13/2025
4062 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2714A1177846 509968 Scrap $3,218.66 3/21/2025
4063 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2716A1177847 537763 Scrap $3,132.50 3/13/2025
4070 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2713A1177854 557960 Scrap $2,670.00 3/31/2025
4071 Gillig 40’ Low Floor Transit Bus 2010 15GGD2715A1177855 530702 Scrap $3,276.59 3/21/2025
Fork Lift 1978 Hyster Forklift n/a n/a Sold to Parsuram Koobeer $750.00 2/14/2025
273 Ford E350 2019 1FDEE3F61KDC03216 203515 Sold to Sergio Khorosh $3,061.00 5/2/2025
327 MCI Bus 1M8PDMBA3DP012769 399784 Sold to Wallace Inman / Georgia Peach LLC $3,451.00 4/29/2025
270 2017 Ford E350 1FDEE3FSXHDC63940 245,874.00               Scrap $838.13 5/20/2025
271 2017 Ford E350 1FDEE3FS1HDC63941 252,448.00               Scrap $862.49 6/19/2025
272 2017 Ford E350 1FDEE3FS3HDC63942 257,933.00               Scrap $868.12 6/19/2025
A107 2011 Ford E150 1FTNE1EW0BDA45350 152,703.00               Sold to Hashir Ahmed $786.00 6/20/2025
A113 2011 Ford E150 1FTNE1EW9BDB31482 294,549.00               Sold to  Parsuram Koobeer $810.00 6/25/2025
A116 2014 For Explorer AWD 1FM5K8D83EGA38945 232,737.00               Sold to Parsuram Koobeer $2,142.72 6/25/2025
T112 2011 Ford F350 1FDRF3H63BEB90846 196,408.00               Sold Rafael Alvarez $2,082.00 6/26/2025
274 2019 Ford E-350 1FDEE3F63KDC03217 N/A Scrap $862.49 6/19/2025
T118 2014 Ford F-250 1FTBF2B62EEA49215 149,910.00               Sold to Alec Rohaley $4,100.00 8/5/2025
T119 2014 Ford F-250 1FTBF2B64EEA49216 127,347.00               Sold to Affordable Housing Management $7,020.00 10/8/2025
A138 2019 Ford Explorer 1FMK5K8D81KGB33208 131,668.00               Sold to Hashir Ahmed $4,280.00 10/22/2025
4073 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2718C1181076 515,655.00               Sold to Uptown Transport Inc $4,150.00 10/29/2025
4075 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2718C1181078 491,702.00               Sold to Golani Bus LLC $2,900.00 10/29/2025
4076 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2713C1181079 523,072.00               Sold to Darius Pinkston $1,575.00 10/24/2025
4077 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2718C1181080 507,474.00               Sold to Uptown Transport Inc $1,550.00 10/29/2025
4078 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2711C1181081 542,543.00               Sold to Darius Pinkston $1,525.00 10/24/2025
4074 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2718C1181077 494,343.00               Scrap $2,706.43 11/17/2025
4082 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2719C1181085 570,806.00               Sold to Golani Bus LLC $1,900.00 11/10/2025
4085 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2714C1181088 507,204.00               Sold to Darius Pinkston $1,525.00 11/25/2025
4086 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2716C1181089 550,796.00               Sold to Golani Bus LLC $3,050.00 11/10/2025
4087 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2712C1181090 501,465.00               Scrap $2,715.00 12/3/2025
4093 2013 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2714D1182551 571,591.00               Scrap $2,762.17 11/11/2025
5501H 2010 Gillig Hybrid 40' Bus 15GGD301XA1177818 647,447.00               Scrap $2,811.43 11/17/2025
5505H 2010 Gillig Hybrid 40' Bus 15GGD3011A1177822 658,395.00               Scrap $2,790.00 11/20/2025
5509H 2010 Gillig Hybrid 40' Bus 15GGD3019A1177826 647,080.00               Scrap $2,781.43 11/25/2025
5510H 2010 Gillig Hybrid 40' Bus 15GGD3010A1177827 657,908.00               Sold to Patrick Parents Jr $1,500.00 11/13/2025
5511H 2010 Gillig Hybrid 40' Bus 15GGD3012A1177828 656,296.00               Sold to Darius Pinkston $1,500.00 11/25/2025
A109 2011 Ford Escape 1FMCU9EG2BKB27427 104,191.00               Sold to Dominic Rapp $594.00 9/30/2025
T105 2011 Ford F-350 1FT7X2B67BEA47829 140,804.00               Sold to Melissa Haigh $1,328.00 10/2/2025
1104 2017 Ford Villager 1F66F5DY1H0A15580 68,459.00                 Donation to Albany County Sheriff's Dept $0.00 4/2/2025
4079 2012 Gillig 40' Bus 15GGD2713C1181082 555,012.00               Scrap $2,695.70 12/9/2025
5513H 2010 Gillig Hybrid 40' Bus 15GDD3010A1177830 671,212.00               Scrap $2,841.45 12/9/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Terrilia Guy 125.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Ethan Warren 106.02 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Lashaw Wesley 100.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Rajkumar Etwaroo 100.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Blake R Connery 100.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Terrilia Guy 100.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Trish Cooper 100.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Jessica Rucinski 100.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Brian Gariepy (2 laptops) 200.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Chris Hyuck 80.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Natarshal Miles 80.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Tracie McNeil 76.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Alison Farison 75.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Allison Johnson 75.00 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Steve Micelli 75.00 4/25/2025
na Samsung Odyessey Curved Monitor na na Renee Sambets $255.50 4/25/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Jill Fagan $150 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Jeanette Stumbaugh $101 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Chip Annello $125 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Lori Ana Valentin $100 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Edna Pettit $100 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Sarmad Shaheen $100 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Sarmad Shaheen $100 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Steve Micelli $100 8/15/2025
na HP Elitebook 840 G5 na na Richard Parodie $100 8/15/2025
TOTAL $107,810.84

Item Description Item Location Asset Tag # Serial # Depreciable Value over $10,000?
Usable 
Condition 

Date

Meraki Pallet In Stockroom 6655 Q2KW8P4UJVZT No No 5/22/2025

Items Disposed of at Authority's Expense:



Meraki Pallet In Stockroom 6657 Q2KW8QUDQXQS No No 5/22/2025
Meraki ms250 Pallet In Stockroom 6703 Q2QW-9JPL-8XYC No No 5/22/2025
Meraki ms225 Pallet In Stockroom 6661 Q2KW-83RAZ7BT No No 5/22/2025
Meraki ms225 Pallet In Stockroom 6660 Q2KW-7Q5GF7MT No No 5/22/2025
Meraki ms225 Pallet In Stockroom 6656 Q2KW-77MDN4ZC No No 5/22/2025
Meraki MX100 Pallet In Stockroom 6252 Q2JNZWQJLAJV No No 5/22/2025
Meraki MS225-48FP Pallet In Stockroom 7074 Q2KW-F95YLZKD No No 5/22/2025
Meraki MS225-48FP Pallet In Stockroom 6667 Q2KW-84K3X2EL No No 5/22/2025
Meraki MX100 Pallet In Stockroom N/A Q2JN4GNLU2BB No No 5/22/2025
Cisco Switch 3560g Pallet In Stockroom N/A FOC11111Y3PU No No 5/22/2025
Cisco Switch 3560g Pallet In Stockroom N/A FOC1420Z418 No No 5/22/2025
Cisco ASA 5508 Pallet In Stockroom N/A JMX2102Y1P3 No No 5/22/2025
Cisco ASA 5508 Pallet In Stockroom N/A JMX2550X2KH No No 5/22/2025
Cisco ASA 5508 Pallet In Stockroom N/A JMX2102Y1PB No No 5/22/2025
Cisco ASA 5505 Pallet In Stockroom N/A JMX1525Z2EW No No 5/22/2025
Cisco 3850 Pallet In Stockroom N/A FOC1820U0JU No No 5/22/2025
Cisco 3850 Pallet In Stockroom N/A FCW1828C0HP No No 5/22/2025
Cisco 3850 Pallet In Stockroom N/A GCW1820C06P No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitedesk 800 g5 Pallet In Stockroom 6761 MLX0112ZPN No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitedesk 800 g4 Pallet In Stockroom 6620 MXL8513VZD No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitedesk 800 g4 Pallet In Stockroom 6705 MXL9283HQC No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitedesk 800 g4 Pallet In Stockroom 6614 MXL8513VZG No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitedesk 800 g6 Pallet In Stockroom 6758 5CG01336LK No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitedesk 800 g6 Pallet In Stockroom 6756 5CG01556XP No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6682 2UA8242SS2 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6494 MXL72711DM No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6676 2UA8242SRL No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6762 MXL0112ZN8 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6735 MXL0094J5C No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6693 2UA8242SSW No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6740 MXL0091YCM No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6706 MXL928HQR No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6493 MXL72711DX No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom 6649 2UA8242SRQ No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitebook 840 g7 Pallet In Stockroom 6826 5CGO4914Q No No 5/22/2025
Latitude 5430 rugged Pallet In Stockroom 8028 H5ZXDD3 No No 5/22/2025
Laserjet pro MFP Pallet In Stockroom B20352 Cnckk903m1 No No 5/22/2025
Laserjet P3015 Pallet In Stockroom B20326 VNB3151634 No No 5/22/2025
Laserjet Pro MFP Pallet In Stockroom B20367 CNB7J150JS No No 5/22/2025
Samsung tablet trapeze Pallet In Stockroom Samt827k 3.56E+14 No No 5/22/2025
Verizon Samsung Tablet Pallet In Stockroom N/A 3.57E+14 No No 5/22/2025
Laserjet m203dw Pallet In Stockroom N/A VND3B88873 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 2ua8242sss No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom N/A Mxl009435h No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom N/A Mxl0094368 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 8CG7392T0G No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 8CG8258QLF No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g3 Pallet In Stockroom N/A MXL72711DL No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDesk 800 g4 Pallet In Stockroom N/A MXL9283HS7 No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitebook 840 g6 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 5CG01556Y2-6 No No 5/22/2025
Dynabook x40-f Pallet In Stockroom N/A 30145267H No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitebook 840 g7 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 5CG04913LW-6 No No 5/22/2025
HP Elitebook 840 g6 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 5CG82962Y0-6 No No 5/22/2025
Poly 600media phone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 64167FA236E No No 5/22/2025
Poly 500media phone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 64167FE1D00A No No 5/22/2025
Poly 500media Phone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 64167FE1D5BE No No 5/22/2025
Poly 600media phone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 64167F7A2119 No No 5/22/2025
Poly 600media phone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 64167FA1BB2 No No 5/22/2025
AC C4501HD Telephone Pallet In Stockroom N/A SC10245437 No No 5/22/2025
Avaya Telephone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 61635501793 No No 5/22/2025
Avaya Telephone Pallet In Stockroom N/A 09FA52436086 No No 5/22/2025
Audiocodes c450 Pallet In Stockroom N/A SC10248855 No No 5/22/2025
HP Ultraslim Docking Station Pallet In Stockroom N/A 2TK947XGKQ No No 5/22/2025
HP Ultraslim Docking Station Pallet In Stockroom N/A 2TK003XDKS No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 8CM416195N No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM344238W No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM416195H No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM45110C2 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM45110C4 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM451101T No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM45110C6 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM41695H No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM45110C4 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM451101T No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM4101QGN No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM4511022 No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM4101QCR No No 5/22/2025



HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM416195J No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e201 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 6CM533050D No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e202 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 3CQ6804MB No No 5/22/2025
HP EliteDisplay e202 Pallet In Stockroom N/A 3CQ648C4LT No No 5/22/2025
HP CompaqLA monitor Pallet In Stockroom N/A 3CQ1200DKK No No 5/22/2025



Capital District Transportation Authority 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 
Subject:  Resolution to approve the Safety Management System Plan 
Committee:  Performance Monitoring/Audit  
Meeting Date: January 21, 2026 
 
Objective of Purchase or Service:  
The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requires a Board resolution to approve the annual 
Safety Management System (SMS) Plan.   
 
Summary of Staff Proposal:  
SMS is an organization-wide, data driven approach to mitigate risk. The plan facilitates 
communication, management, and enhances the safety efforts within the organization. The plan 
includes Key Performance Targets, such as the Safety Management Policy, Safety Risk 
Management, and Safety Promotion and Communication. 
 
The plan is updated throughout the year to ensure it remains comprehensive, collaborative, and 
compliant. Updates have been reviewed and approved by the Safety Committee. The plan was 
reviewed and approved by the FTA during the last Triennial Audit completed in 2025. 
 
Improvements made to the plan since the last adoption include: 
 

• Established a policy for conflict resolution for safety committee 
• New safety glasses policy in all maintenance facilities 
• Incorporated video mirror technology into the fleet 
• Rebranded and replaced safety signage  
• Safety Committee helps identify and proactively address safety hazards, issues and 

employee concerns  
 
Next steps: 

• Partner with NYS Department of Labor for bus operator training simulator program 
• Monthly safety facility inspections  
• Establish a pilot program for “Mobileye Shield” collision avoidance warning system  
• New refresher training programs for employees.  

 
Financial Summary and Source of Funds:    
None at this time. 
 
Proposed Action:   
I recommend the approval of the SMS plan in accordance with FTA requirements. A copy of the 
plan is included in the packet.  
 
Manager:   
Rich Nasso, Superintendent of Safety & Training 
 
 
 



 
  

 

 

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) 

2026 

Introduction 
 
On July 19, 2018, the FTA published the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan Final Rule which 
requires operators of public transportation systems that receive federal funds under FTA's Urbanized 
Area Formula Grants to develop safety plans that include the processes and procedures to implement 
Safety Management Systems (SMS). On July 19, 2019, the ruling took effect. 
 
This plan will be used by the Capital District Transportation Authority as a guide to strengthen the 
current safety processes in place, while meeting the new regulations set forth in 49 CFR Part 673 of 
the federal guidelines. 
 
The Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) calls for a formal process to communicate 
and manage safety from the highest level of management. The updated plan will guide the agency in 
safety risk management, safety assurance and communication and promoting safety within the 
organization. There will be an annual review of the plan to review the safety performance measures 
and determine improvements that may be needed to improve the organizational safety targets. 

Agency Background 
 
The Capital District Transportation Authority (CDTA) is the premier mobility provider in the Capital 
Region, providing local, paratransit, express, commuter and bus rapid transit services across its six-
county, 3500 square-mile service area. CDTA also operates a regional bike share program, provides 
micro transit services, and has introduced electric buses to its fleet. CDTA owns and operates the 
Joseph L. Bruno Rail Station and Saratoga Springs Train Station. 
 
The Authority consists of a 10-member board, appointed by the Governor, and confirmed by the 
State Senate. The enabling legislation was modified in 2009 to include a non-voting member 
representing labor. All policy decisions reside with this board and implemented by the Chief 
Executive Officer. 
 
The Capital District Transportation Authority operates in Albany, Rensselaer, Saratoga, Schenectady, 
Montgomery, and Warren Counties. We work daily to meet the mobility needs within the Capital 
Region. There are 55 routes and more than 3000 stops within the system providing service to more 
than 16 million passengers a year. 
 
Using our Transit Development Plan as a guide, we have dramatically improved our service network, 
reduced operating costs, and sharpened our community image. This includes innovative projects like 
Upstate New York’s first Bus Rapid Transit service, Universal Access program, a regional bike share 
program (CDPHP Cycle!), micro transit service (FLEX) and the first property in upstate New York 
to introduce electric buses to its fleet. 



 
 
 

Page | 2  
 

Transit Agency Information 
 

Transit Agency Name Capital District Transportation Plan 

Transit Agency Address 110 Watervliet Avenue Albany, NY 12206 

Name and Title of Accountable 
Executive 

 
Frank Annicaro, Chief Executive Officer 

Name of Chief Safety Officer or 
SMS Executive 

 
Jack Grogan, Director of Safety & Training 

 
Mode(s) of Service Covered by 
This Plan 

Bus 
Commuter Bus 
Demand Response (Paratransit) 

List All FTA 
Funding Types 
(e.g., 5307, 5337, 

   5307 
5311 
5339 

 Demand Response – Taxi (Paratransit) 5339)  
 Bus 
Mode(s) of Service Provided by Commuter Bus 
the Transit Agency (Directly Demand Response (Paratransit) 
operated or contracted service) Demand Response – Taxi (Paratransit) 
 Vanpool 
Does the agency provide transit 
services on behalf of another 
transit agency or entity? 

 
No 

 
Description of Arrangement(s) 

 
N/A 

Name and Address of Transit 
Agency(ies) or Entity(ies) for 
Which Service Is Provided 

 
N/A 

Plan Development, Approval, and Updates 
 

Name of Entity That Drafted 
This Plan 

 
Rich Nasso Jr., Superintendent of Safety & Training 

 
 
 
Signature by the Accountable 
Executive 

Signature of Accountable Executive Date of Signature 

 
 
Frank Annicaro 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Approval by the Board of 
Directors or an Equivalent 
Authority 

Name of Individual/Entity That Approved This Plan Date of Approval 

Capital District Transportation Authority  

Relevant Documentation (Title and Location) 

Board Resolution No.  

A copy of all resolutions passed by the Board of Directors of the Capital District 
Transportation Authority can be found online at www.cdta.org. The original copy is 
maintained on file with the Superintendent of Safety and Training. 

Approval of the Safety 
Committee 

Approved – November 2025 

http://www.cdta.org/


 
  

Page | 3   

Version Number and Updates 
Record the complete history of successive versions of this plan. 

Version Number Section/Pages Affected Reason for Change Date Issued 

1 N/A Board Adoption – No. 26 - 2020 June 24, 2020 

2 Safety Targets Annual Update and Approval No. 48 – 2021 Oct. 27, 2021 

3 Safety Targets Annual Update and Approval 2022 Dec. 21, 2022 

4 Safety Targets Annual Update and Approval 2023 Dec. 20, 2023 

5 Safety Committee Annual Update and Approval – No. 39 - 2024   Dec. 18, 2024 

7 2, 4, 6 Staff & New Requirements Update June 24, 2025 

8 Many Title Changes January 16, 2026 

Annual Review and Update of the Agency Safety Plan 
Describe the process and timeline for conducting an annual review and update of the ASP. 

The plan will be reviewed and updated in November of each year by the Superintendent of Safety and Training at a 
mandatory annual safety meeting. The Safety Committee will review and approve any and all changes. Once approved by 
the Safety Committee, the Superintendent of Safety & Training will review the updated plan with all department heads 
that are responsible for reporting on safety objectives and performance targets. 
 
Any new implemented policies and procedures will be reviewed for their effectiveness. The agency’s ability to meet 
performance targets will also be presented, and the need to modify performance targets for the coming year will be 
considered. Any updates to the plan will be reviewed and approved by the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of 
Directors. 
 
All versions of the plan and associated documents used to carry out the ASP mentioned within the plan must be kept on 
file for no less than (3) years as required by the FTA and kept available for no less than seven (7) years as required by 
CDTA’s record retention process. Documents will be made available upon request by FTA or other Federal or State 
entity.  
 
Any changes made to the Safety Plan will be distributed for all employees to review after approval is made by the CEO 
and the Board of Directors. The Chief Safety Officer will draft a notice to all Employees and Managers listing the 
updates to the plan. The notice will be communicated through the communication channels listed in this plan. 

 
  



 
  

Page | 4   

Safety Performance Targets 
 

Safety Performance Targets 
Specify performance targets based on the safety performance measures established under the National Public 
Transportation Safety Plan. 
 
Mode of Transit 
Service 

 
Fatalities 
(Total) 

 
Fatalities 
(Rate) 

 
Injuries 
(Total) 

 
Injuries 
(Rate) 

Safety 
Events 
(Total) 

Safety 
Events 
(Rate) 

 
System 
Reliability 

 
Bus 

 
0 

 
0 

 
14 

 
.014 

 
17 

 
.017 

 
36,000 

 
Commuter Bus 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
6.9 

 
0 

 
10.4 

 
70,000 

Demand Response 
(Paratransit) 

 
0 

 
0 

 
2 

 
5.1 

 
2 

 
2.1 

 
46,000 

Demand Response 
– Taxi 
(Paratransit) 

 
0 

 
0 

 
1 

 
0.7 

 
1 

 
.07 

 
0 

 
Total 

 
0 

 
0 

 
17 

 
5.9 

 
20 

 
4.1 

 
152,000 

Other Safety Targets Total or Rate 
Major Events (Total) 36 
Major Event Rate (# of events divided by Vehicle Revenue Miles – VRM) 444,000 
Collisions (Total) 430 
Collision Rate (# of Collisions divided by VRM) 37,209 
Pedestrian Collision Rate  1 
Transit Worker Fatality Rate 0 
Transit Worker Injury Rate 222,000 
Assaults on Transit Workers (Total) 18 
Rate of Assaults on Transit Workers (# of Assaults divided by VRM) 888,889 
Safety Performance Target Coordination 
Describe the coordination with the State and Metropolitan Planning Organization(s) (MPO) in the selection of State and 
MPO safety performance targets. 

The regional MPO for the Albany, NY area is the Capital Regional Transportation Council (CRTC) and overall transit 
safety for New York State is the responsibility of the Department of Transportation (NYSDOT). CDTA, CRTC, and 
NYSDOT are partners on many projects and initiatives related to the regional transportation network – including safety 
of the transit system. There is close and ongoing coordination and correspondence between the three entities. CDTA and 
NYSDOT are members of CRTC’s Planning Committee, Policy Board, and its Administrative & Financial (A&F) 
Standing Subcommittee. CDTA is also the host agency for CRTC. 
 
CDTA coordinates with CRTC and NYSDOT in the selection of safety performance targets to the maximum extent 
practical and makes the safety performance targets available to both State and MPO organizations to aid in the planning 
process. 
 
The Superintendent of Safety & Training provides a copy of the ASP to CRTC, NYSDOT Region 1, and the Public 
Transportation Safety Board. This includes the description of the Safety Performance Targets described in the ASP. The 
ASP and performance targets have been adopted by the MPO. 
 
Targets Transmitted to 
the State 

State Entity Name Date Targets Transmitted 

New York State Department of 
Transportation – Public Transportation Safety 
Board 

21/21/25 

 
Targets Transmitted to 
the Metropolitan Planning 
Organization(s) 

Metropolitan Planning Organization Name Date Targets Transmitted 

 
Capital Regional Transportation Council 

3/1/24 
 



 
  

Page | 5   

Safety Management Policy 
 

Safety Management Policy Statement 
Use the written statement of safety management policy, including safety objectives. 

CDTA’s leadership, Board of Directors, and the joint-labor Safety Committee comprised of management and front-line 
workers, are committed to the safety of its employees and customers and promoting a culture of safety. The Chief 
Executive Officer is ultimately responsible for the safety throughout all aspects of CDTA’s operation. That responsibility 
includes ensuring the proper personnel and material resources are available to implement safety policies and procedures 
and sufficient and appropriate monitoring and reporting systems are in place. CDTA recognizes its responsibility to 
provide a culture of safety through Safety Risk Management, Safety Assurance, and Safety Promotion and 
Communication. 
 
To ensure these measures are met, subject matter experts have been identified and assigned to roles in which they can 
further the culture of safety within all departments. Those responsible for safety have been provided with the 
resources and authority necessary to obtain those goals. CDTA trains all employees to promote safe working conditions 
and provide them with the appropriate forum needed to communicate their ideas to continue building a better workplace 
driven by a culture of safety. It is the responsibility of all managers and supervisors to administer proactive and reactive 
accident prevention measures that benefit the transit system, its employees, and the public. 
 
It is the responsibility of all employees to be vigilant of safety hazards, to work safely, and to be cognizant of CDTA's 
safety rules. As the frontline workers of the agency, all employees are encouraged to report any and all safety hazards 
identified, either on the road or within our facilities. This can be done through direct reporting to supervisors, or 
anonymously, through our employee reporting process. Employees will not be disciplined for reporting in good faith any 
safety concern that is not attributable to the employee’s own action or inaction. The Authority, along with the support of 
the Amalgamated Transit Union (ATU), will not allow repercussions by management or the leadership of the ATU, in the 
event an employee’s report verifies a hazardous condition due to employee negligence. In the event an investigation 
reveals carelessness on the part of the employee or the employee filing the report, the actions of the unsafe employee may 
be reason for discipline and/or remedial training. 
 
Upon receiving a report of a hazard, a review will be initiated by the appropriate personnel. If action is deemed 
appropriate, CDTA will work in good faith to implement risk mitigation measures that are appropriate and timely. Action 
taken by the Authority will be promptly communicated to all employees. CDTA’s regular employee training and retraining 
program will aim to keep staff up to date with the latest policies and operational procedures. Further, CDTA has zero 
tolerance for employees who may put customers and employees at undue risk. Employees with an unacceptable safety 
record will be counseled and may be subject to the disciplinary process. 
CDTA’s mission is to provide safe and dependable transportation services at a reasonable cost. No function will ever 
compromise safety. In this regard, the planning and execution of any job or project must include full recognition of the 
risks involved and the best methods for addressing and minimizing them. Our collective ability to work safely has a 
direct effect on the overall efficiency of our operation. Operating in an unsafe manner not only could negatively impact an 
employee’s well-being but can also cast a negative light on the organization to our community partners and the general 
public that relies on our services. 
 
Frank Annicaro - Chief Executive Officer 

 
 

Public Employer Health Emergency Plan 
Describe how the agency strategies to minimize the exposure to hazards and unsafe conditions. 
CDTA developed a Public Employer Health Emergency Plan in accordance with NYS legislation S8617B/A10832 that 
was approved by the Amalgamated Transit Union and CEO in February 2021.  

 
The Public Employer Health Emergency Plan establishes policy and guidance to outline the mission critical functions of 
CDTA and how to minimize exposure of a hazard to the public, personnel, and property. This plan considers data from 
the CDC and State health authorities.  
 
Future changes to the Public Employer Health Emergency Plan will be communicated to all employees via bulletin boards 
and inclusion in the Employee Handbook. 

 
 
  



 
  

Page | 6   

Safety Management Policy Communication 
Describe how the safety management policy is communicated throughout the agency. Include dates where applicable. 
The SMS principles and plan was approved by the Safety Committee in November 2025 and subsequently adopted by the 
Board of Directors at its January 28, 2026 meeting with Board Resolution No.  
 
The Safety Management Policy is distributed to every active employee in a number of ways including but not limited to, 
email, person-to-person distribution and posted on bulletin boards in key communication areas. This policy is included in 
the employee handbooks provided to all new employees, and new employees are expected to review and certify that they 
acknowledge and comply with all standards and practices. Future changes to the safety policy will be communicated to all 
employees via public posting and email communication. 
 
CDTA has a joint labor-management Safety Committee comprised of frontline Transportation, non-essential 
Transportation, Maintenance, and Management staff. The committee consists of an equal number of frontline employee 
representatives selected by the labor union and management representatives to appropriately represent the size, scope, and 
complexity of the agency. The committee has at a minimum, the responsibility for identifying and recommending risk-based 
mitigations to reduce the likelihood and severity of items identified through the risk assessment process, as well as identifying 
strategies or mitigations that may be ineffective, inappropriate, or not working as intended. It is the responsibility of these 
committee members to identify safety deficiencies for purposes of ensuring continuous improvement agency wide. The 
Safety Committee is governed by a separate policy developed by Management and Union representatives that includes 
agenda creation, meeting minutes, and organizational structure requirements.  

 

Authorities, Accountabilities, and Responsibilities 
Describe the role of the following individuals for the development and management of the transit agency's Safety 
Management System (SMS). 

 
Accountable 
Executive 

Chief Executive Officer (Frank Annicaro) Reports directly to the Board of Directors and serves as the 
accountable executive pertaining to the overall execution of the Agency Safety Plan and the Transit 
Asset Management Plan. It is the responsibility of the CEO to supervise all administrative functions 
of the authority which includes carrying out the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan of a public 
transportation agency; for carrying out the agency's Transit Asset Management Plan; and has 
direction over the human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain both the agency's 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan, and the agency's Transit Asset Management Plan.  
 
The CEO also ensures that the SMS is effectively implemented through oversight and reports by 
department managers presented at the annual safety meeting and through other routine meetings 
throughout the year. THE CEO is responsible for implementing safety risk mitigations for the safety 
risk reduction program and receives and considers all other safety risk mitigations recommended by 
the Safety Committee. The CEO is also responsible for ensuring that the SMS effectively 
implemented be delegated to qualified staff hired and/or appointed to the appropriate positions to 
effectively oversee the safety plan. The CEO’s oversight and direction of personnel and capital 
ensures appropriate action is taken when needed and that action is in line with the principles of the 
Agency Safety Plan. 

Chief Safety 
Officer or SMS 
Executive 

Director of Safety & Training (Jack Grogan) - Serves as the Chief Safety Officer reporting directly to 
the Chief Executive Officer. This position is responsible for directing and managing the 
organization’s safety and training department and initiatives. Designated by the Accountable 
Executive, the Chief Safety Officer is an adequately trained individual who has responsibility for 
safety, has the authority and responsibility for day-to-day implementation and operation of the SMS.  
 
The Chief Safety Officer reviews and approves any changes to the ASP, sets annual safety 
performance targets for the safety risk reduction program, identifies and recommends safety risk 
mitigations necessary to reduce the likelihood and severity of potential consequences identified 
through the safety risk assessment, identifies safety risk mitigations that may be ineffective, 
inappropriate, or were not implemented as intended, and identifies safety deficiencies for purposes of 
continuous improvement. 
 
Responsible for oversight of the safety roles and responsibilities of the Superintendent of Safety. 
Including but not limited to; annual revisions of SMS by ensuring that departmental responsibilities are 
updated in the plan and the approval process is followed, ensuring that the Safety Department staff have 
been extensively trained in the presentation of the Transportation Safety Institute’s (TSI) Bus Operator 
Training Program and have attended the TSI Basic Accident Investigation Course. Ensure the Drug and 
Alcohol Policy and Federal regulations in 49 CFR Part 40 and Part 655 are administered properly. 



 
  

Page | 7   

 
 
Agency 
Leadership & 
Executive 
Management 

Vice President of Operations (Lance Zarcone) - Reports directly to the Chief Operating Officer. The 
VP of Operations is responsible for the management of all transportation and maintenance activities 
of all divisions (Albany, Schenectady, Troy, Glens Falls) and STAR (paratransit service) to ensure 
that all processes in the SMS along with other policies and procedures are properly executed by both 
the Transportation and Maintenance Departments. 

Chief Operating Officer (Chris Desany) - Reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer. The 
position directs and manages the organization's strategic planning, service development, information 
technology and facilities programs. Departmental roles and responsibilities include managing 
strategic and service planning, scheduling, project management, system administration, business 
process improvement, and physical plant infrastructure. 

General Counsel (Amanda Avery) - Reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer. The General 
Counsel is responsible for providing legal advice to management on issues such as contracts, 
procurement, employment law and ensures compliance with all Federal, State, and local laws and 
regulations. 

   Key Staff Superintendent of Safety & Training (Rich Nasso Jr.) - Reports to the Director of Safety & Training. 
Primary responsibility for identifying safety improvements and administering safety programs. 

• Ensures adherence to applicable statutes and rules. 
• Regular review of all operators’ safety records to identify candidates for remedial training. 
• Review and establish determinations of preventability for all accidents. Request follow-up 

training for operators having preventable  accidents or deteriorating safety records. Requests may 
be for remedial, refresher training, on-board observations, or any other pertinent individualized 
training. 

• Prepare a monthly safety report, with recommendations for improving performance; also includes 
update of divisional goals and progress. 

• Provides direction and oversight to Safety Committees. 
• Hire, train, supervise and direct training staff. 
• Manages the Safety Awards Program. 
• Manages the Drug and Alcohol Program and DMV 19-A program. 
• Inspect facilities and monitors operating practices, including regular field safety patrols. 
• Liaison with Public Transportation Safety Board. 

   
Safety Supervisors (multiple) – Reports to the Superintendent of Safety & Training. 

• Train new bus operators and facilitate safety refresher training and remedial training for 
experienced bus operators. 

• Assist the Superintendent of Safety in the development of new programs and revision of 
existing programs for bus operators. 

• Periodic field observations to check operator compliance with safety rules. Assist in periodic 
building and safe working conditions inspections. 

• Investigate accidents and submit reports to Superintendent of Safety. Perform all 19-A 
Requirements for compliance. 

 
Director of Planning (Mike Williams) - Reports to the Chief Operating Officer. This position is 
responsible for Planning and Scheduling preliminary design for capital projects, route patterns and 
schedules, and strategic / long-term initiatives. They coordinate with the Superintendent of Safety to 
make safety recommendations for new service and to ensure that our schedules meet safety guidelines. 
Works closely with local municipalities so that our service is being considered for all major construction 
projects in the counties in which we serve. 
 
Director of Facilities (Jeremy Smith) - Reports to the Chief Operating Officer has overall responsibility 
for the management of the Facilities Department whose primary function is to provide safe, effective, 
and efficient maintenance, improvement, and operation of all CDTA buildings and grounds. Facilities 
include but are not limited to, office structures, vehicle storage and maintenance facilities, trains 
stations, surface parking and structures (facility related and park-and-ride), bus stops, shelters, and 
terminals. Collaborates with the Director of Planning, Director of Safety & Training, and Superintendent 
of Safety as it relates to all projects. 
 
Director of Transportation, Director of Maintenance, and Director of Service Quality Superintendents – 
Reports to VP of Operations. They are responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations within their 
assigned division. The Directors ensures compliance with all policies and procedures and makes sure 



 
  

Page | 8   

that all safety standards from the Agency Safety Plan are carried out. The Directors are directly 
responsible for the Transportation Supervisors and Maintenance Forman who are tasked with 
performing Quality Assurance checks on our vehicles. This is one way that we can verify the 
effectiveness of the System Safety Plan. 
 
 Drivers’ Forums and Mechanic Forums: CDTA holds quarterly meetings with drivers/supervisors and 
mechanics/foreman to discuss any upcoming changes to service, policies, or procedures. CDTA will 
include an agenda item dedicated to safety allowing attendees the opportunity to inform staff of 
potential hazards and for Directors and Superintendent of Safety to reinforce safety protocols. 
 

 
Employee Safety Reporting Program 
Describe the process and protections for employees to report safety conditions to senior management. Describe 
employee behaviors that may result in disciplinary action (and therefore, are excluded from protection). 

CDTA has a system in place that allows operators, mechanics, and all other employees to report incidents, accidents, 
hazards, and other information that may require attention such as assaults on transit workers, near-misses, and unsafe acts 
and conditions. 
 
Employees can report hazardous conditions using the following reporting tools: 

• Operators report conditions directly to Central Communications (radio dispatcher) 
• Mechanics report conditions directly to their foreman 
• File a report using CDTA’s reporting software –  MobileForms 
• Employee forums – If it is a low-risk concern 
• Safety Committee – low risk concerns 
• All other employees report conditions directly to any supervisor, manager, or director. 

 
Immediate Response 
Below is a list of examples where safety concerns may be reported for an immediate response or may require follow-up by 
various departments within the organization. 

• Mechanical issues – brakes, steering, fumes, or anything that may interfere with the operation of the vehicle. 
• Shelter/Stop – broken glass in a shelter, interference at a stop such as construction, snowbanks or anything that 

may require the stop to be temporarily or permanently relocated. 
• Policies and procedures that do not work as intended that may not be eliminating safety concerns or could be 

causing higher risk. 
• Events that senior managers might not otherwise know about (for example, near misses) 
• Information about why a safety event occurred (for example, radio communication challenges). 

 
The Safety and Training department reviews reports daily. Recommendations are made to address safety concerns issues 
with support of operations and the direct oversite and guidance from the Chief Safety officer. All discussions regarding 
safety concerns will be brought up and discussed in Safety Committees and Employee forums. If the employee submitting a 
report provides their name, the Chief Safety Officer or other appropriate senior staff member can follow up with that 
employee directly. 
 
All safety concerns are logged in a database with a date and timeframe of when the issue should be resolved. Results of 
Safety Committee activities are issued on an Employee Communication Board in each division. 
 
Employees will not be disciplined for reporting in good faith any safety concern that is not attributable to the employee’s 
own action or inaction. The Authority, along with the support of the ATU, will not allow there to be any discipline initiated 
by management or the leadership of the ATU, in the event there is found there was negligence of the authority or a 
member of the ATU. 
 
In the event an investigation reveals carelessness on the part of an employee or the employee filing the report, the actions 
of the unsafe employee may be reason for discipline and/or remedial training 
 

 

 



 
  

Page | 9   

Safety Risk Management 
Safety Risk Management Process 
Describe the Safety Risk Management process, including: 

• Safety Hazard Identification: The methods or processes to identify hazards and consequences of the hazards. 
• Safety Risk Assessment: The methods or processes to assess the safety risks associated with identified safety 

hazards. 
• Safety Risk Mitigation: The methods or processes to identify mitigations or strategies necessary as a result of safety 

risk assessment. 
Safety Risk Management Process 
CDTA has introduced a process to conduct Safety Risk Management among existing operations as well as 
implementing changes to the service, street amenities, and its facilities. The purpose is to form a consistent process that 
defines the terminology that should be used and create a formula that can be used as a guide to identify hazards and the 
potential consequences. Safety Risk Management provides the CDTA with a process to quantify a potential safety risk 
and then develop a response prior to the hazard escalating into an incident and is compromised of the following 
activities: hazard identification, safety risk assessment, and safety risk mitigation. 
 
The Chief Safety Officer or designee will verify whether the process for identifying risk is helping to improve systems 
such as our operations and maintenance; facilities and vehicles; and personnel recruitment, training, and supervision. 
 
CDTA will use the following terminology when referring to Safety Risk Management, 

• Hazard – Any real or potential condition that can cause injury, illness, or death; damage to or loss of the 
facilities, equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure belonging to CDTA; or damage to the environment. 

• Consequence – An effect of a hazard involving injury, illness, death, or damage to CDTA property or the 
environment. 

• Event – Any accident, incident, or occurrence 
• Risk – Composite of predicted severity and likelihood of the potential effect of a hazard. 
• Risk Mitigation – Method(s) to eliminate or reduce the effects of hazards. 
• Safety Hazard Identification 

 
When identifying hazards and the potential consequences, the Safety department uses various sources. These sources 
include: 

• Safety analyses conducted during periodic facility inspections. 
• Review of vehicle camera footage after a report is filed. 
• Review of monthly performance data and safety performance targets 
• Supervisor observations 
• Maintenance reports 
• Pre/post trip inspection reports which may indicate defect trends within individual vehicles. 
• Customer comments 
• Safety committees and employee forums 
• Safety audits by the internal and external auditors of compliance with the AGS, Maintenance Inspections, and 

Security procedures 
• External safety data sources may include architectural, engineering, or surveyors site drawings that may be 

provided to Safety for an evaluation of potential safety hazards. 
• Investigations into safety events, incidents, and occurrences identified through Safety Assurance activities.  
• Federal Transit Administration (FTA) and other oversight authority’s review 
• Data and information regarding exposure to infectious disease provided by the CDC or State health authority 
• Safety concerns identified through Safety Assurance activities 

 
Safety Risk Assessment 
CDTA has established a process to assess the safety risk associated with identified hazards. All hazards identified are 
reviewed by the Safety Department, including the Superintendent of Safety and Safety Supervisors to determine the 
level of risk. Risk level is divided into three categories – High, Medium, or Low which are defined as: 

• High hazard ratings will be considered unacceptable and require immediate action from CDTA to mitigate 
the safety risk, 

• Medium hazard ratings will be considered undesirable and require CDTA’s Chief Safety Officer or designee 
to make a decision regarding their acceptability, and 

• Low hazard ratings may be accepted by the Superintendent of Safety without additional review. 
These risk classifications are awarded based on a consideration of the likelihood for an incident to occur due to a 
hazard and the potential negative consequences of that incident. 
 
 



 
  

Page | 10   

Safety Risk Mitigation 
CDTA has established a method for identifying safety risk mitigations necessary as a result of the safety risk 
assessment to reduce the likelihood and severity of the potential consequences. The safety risk assessment takes into 
account existing safety risk mitigations and determines the necessity and prioritization of safety risk mitigations. 
Mitigation of hazards is determined based on the level of risk and the nature of the hazard. For example, hazards with 
higher risk are dealt with immediately and the response can be as substantial as eliminating bus stops that have become 
unsafe, stopping service outright, or limiting areas for operations in bus garages. 
 
As many identified hazards are of a lower risk, the Safety Department in conjunction with the Safety Committee and 
related departments develop solutions that will be long-term and impactful. This can be through a new policy or 
procedure or by constructing new infrastructure (ex. installing sidewalk and crosswalk at the bus stop that requires 
improved accessibility). 
 
The intent of any mitigation effort is to limit the hazard and prevent any future accidents or incidents. For new projects, 
risk mitigation is proactive instead of reactive. For example, the Safety Department reviews design documents of 
capital projects led by the Planning and Facility Department and the Superintendent of Safety provides a list of 
concerns or potential safety risks. Designs are then updated to mitigate these risks during the planning phase and prior 
to construction. 
Exposure to the Hazard – Used to identify the probability of level. 
Risk Assessment Value – By combining table 1 and 2, the value table guides you to determining the level of risk and 
determine what level of action needs to be taken. 
 

The SRM process will be the responsibility of the Chief Safety Officer and Safety Department with the assistance of 
the Safety Committee. This will promote consistency in risk evaluations. Review by safety subject matter experts will 
increase the quality of risk measures and implementation of appropriate action. CDTA utilizes guidance provided by 
oversight authorities such as the FTA, CDC, and State health authorities when needed. As a source for safety risk 
mitigation, CDTA considers guidance to prevent or control exposure to infectious diseases provided by CDC or other 
State health authorities. 
 

After a level of risk is determined for a hazard, CDTA reduces that risk by implementing mitigation measures designed 
and intended to reduce the probability of occurrence and/or severity of consequences. Once a new operational element 
or procedure is in place, short term monitoring will evaluate its effectiveness and identify any negative safety hazards it 
may have created unintentionally. Long term monitoring will evaluate the mitigation measure effectiveness by 
considering changes to measured risk. 
Risk Reduction Program 
Establish performance targets for the risk reduction program using a 3-year rolling average of the data 
submitted to the National Transit Database for all modes of transportation. 

CDTA assesses and mitigates the associated safety risk based on the results of the safety risk assessment using its 
safety risk mitigation process. The Safety & Training Department utilizes the Risk Reduction Program, in coordination 
with the Safety Risk Assessment, to establish proactive measures that reduce the amount of risk and allow CDTA to 
meet the established performance targets. The Risk Reduction Program includes a focus on reducing the assaults on 
transit workers, vehicular and pedestrian accidents, and injuries by taking appropriate measures to mitigate the risk of 
these occurrences. 
 
CDTA and the Safety Committee are focused on reducing visibility impairments for transit vehicle operators that 
contribute to accidents, deployment of assault mitigation infrastructure and technology on transit vehicles and in transit 
facilities, and safety risk mitigation relating to vehicular and pedestrian safety events involving transit vehicles or 
assaults on transit workers based on the safety risk assessment. If CDTA fails to meet the performance targets an 
amount not less than 0.75% of the allocated 5307 funds to fund safety-related projects and initiatives that are 
reasonably like to assist in meeting the performance targets in the following year.  
 
If the Safety Committee recommends a safety risk mitigation unrelated to the safety risk reduction program, and the 
Accountable Executive decides not to implement the mitigation, the Account Executive will provide a written 
statement explaining their decision and submit and present this explanation to the Safety Committee and the Board of 
Directors.  

 
  



 
  

Page | 11   

Table 1: Definition of Severity 
SEVERITY CATEGORIES 

Description Severity 
Category 

Mishap Result Criteria 

 
Catastrophic 

 
1 

Could result in one or more of the following: death, permanent total disability, 
irreversible significant environmental impact, or monetary loss equal to or exceeding 
$10M. 

 
 
Critical 

 
 
2 

Could result in one or more of the following: permanent partial disability, injuries or 
occupational illness that may result in hospitalization of at least three personnel, 
reversible significant environmental impact, or monetary loss equal to or exceeding 
$1M but less than $10M. 

 
Marginal 

 
3 

Could result in one or more of the following: injury or occupational illness resulting in 
one or more lost workday(s), reversible moderate environmental impact, or monetary 
loss equal to or exceeding $100K but less than $1M. 

 
Negligible 

 
4 

Could result in one or more of the following: injury or occupational illness not 
resulting in a lost workday, minimal environmental impact, or monetary loss less than 
$100K. 

 

Table 2: Definition of Exposure 
PROBABILITY LEVELS 

Description Level Specific Individual Item Fleet or Inventory 

Frequent A Likely to occur often in the life of an item. Continuously experienced. 

Probable B Will occur several times in the life of an item. Will occur frequently. 

Occasional C Likely to occur sometime in the life of an item. Will occur several times. 

Remote D Unlikely, but possible to occur in the life of an item. Unlikely, but can reasonably be 
expected to occur. 

 
Improbable 

 
E 

So unlikely, it can be assumed occurrence may not 
be experienced in the life of an item. 

 
Unlikely to occur, but possible. 

 
Eliminated 

 
F 

 
Incapable of occurrence. This level is used when 
potential hazards are identified and later 
eliminated. 

Incapable of occurrence. This 
level is used when potential 
hazards are identified and later 
eliminated. 

 
  



 
  

Page | 12   

Table 3: Risk Assessment Value 
RISK ASSESSMENT MATRIX 

SEVERITY 
PROBABILITY 

 
Catastrophic (1) 

 
Critical (2) 

 
Marginal (3) 

 
Negligible (4) 

Frequent (A) High High Serious Medium 

Probable (B) High High Serious Medium 

Occasional (C) High Serious Medium Low 

Remote (D) Serious Medium Medium Low 

Improbable (E) Medium Medium Medium Low 

Eliminated (F) Eliminated 

Safety Assurance 
 

Safety Performance Monitoring and Measurement 
Describe activities to monitor the system for compliance with procedures for operations and maintenance. 
The following are activities conducted to monitor and ensure safety compliance throughout the CDTA transit system 
by monitoring the system for compliance and to identify any safety risk mitigations that may be ineffective, 
inappropriate, or were not implemented as intended: 
 
Internal Audits – CDTA has an internal auditor that is responsible for evaluating systems established to ensure 
compliance with the policies, plans, procedures, laws, and regulations which could impact the organization. The audit 
process is used to ascertain whether specific operations or programs are meeting the goals and objectives as planned. 
Maintenance Audits– Extensive audits of maintenance are conducted by an external firm regularly to monitor 
performance and recommend improvements. Currently the audit is performed by Transportation Resource Center, 
based in Oviedo Florida. The audit consists of: 
 
Inspection of 30% of the fleet (70 buses) using State and Federal standards. Defects are broken out into two types of 
defects. 
A Defect – An “A” defect requires immediate attention and repair. Once identified, it would keep a bus from 
returning to service if not corrected. “A” defects include inadequate brakes and tire tread, non-functioning turn signals 
and major oil or fuel leaks. 
B Defect – A “B” defect requires attention at or before the vehicles’ next service inspection (it would not necessarily 
require a bus to be held from service). Examples of a B defect includes loose grab rails, exterior damage, leaky 
windows, and minor oil leaks. 
 
A separate group of vehicles are selected for records review. 
 
The facilities are reviewed for the conditions of the maintenance shop, cleanliness, and adherence to the safety 
standards in the shop. 
 
Field Observations / Route Checks – Transportation Supervisors and Safety Supervisors are used to verify processes 
on the streets/roadways are being executed properly with quality assurance checks when observing service operations. 
These observations monitor a variety of areas such as driver conduct, bus speeds, turning movements, 
boarding/alighting passengers, securing bus during layovers. 
 
Camera Observations: The process of pulling bus video becomes available when an incident is logged. All live and 
historic data is available for review regardless of an incident. Real-time information for the facilities is available in 
the dispatcher locations to review. 



 
  

Page | 13   

 
Employee Reporting – Employees have a process to communicate safety hazards through an electronic safety 
reporting system, through supervision or employee forums. All safety concerns require an inspection and follow up by 
field supervisors with the assistance of safety. 
 
Safety Committee – Utilizing the Safety Committee to assist in identifying any safety risk mitigations that may be 
ineffective, inappropriate, or were not implemented as intended.  
 
Departmental Goals – Through the performance review process, department heads task staff to ensure the safety 
responsibilities covered in the safety plan and other operating procedures are followed. Adherence to this task is part 
of an employee’s performance evaluation. 
 
Information Technology – Mobile Statics data provide by the INIT CAD/AVL system is used to verify that targets are 
met, addressing issues pertaining to service, and guide the Chief Safety Officers in determining where safety hazards 
may need to be addressed to prevent an event from occurring. 
 
Describe activities to monitor operations to identify any safety risk mitigations that may be ineffective, inappropriate, 
or were not implemented as intended. 

With the new Intelligent Transportation Management System (ITMS) and in cooperation with the IT department, the 
Safety Department has created a driver excellence dashboard. This new system allows for the Chief Safety Officer to 
identify aggressive driving by using data to find trends. The data will help identify the following: 

• On time performance of a route due to aggressive driving. 
• Operator habits. 
• Up to date data pertaining to meeting safety targets. 
• Show high accident locations though its mapping module. 
• Data collected can be used to initiate an investigation and the hazard identification processes.  
• In some cases, the findings may require a change in routes, schedules, and/or processes. 
• Safety Committee meetings. 

 
  



 
  

Page | 14   

Describe activities to conduct investigations of safety events, including the identification of causal factors. 

CDTA has a process in place that requires an investigation for all accidents, incidents, and occurrences, as defined by 
FTA, including identifying casual factors. During a safety event, a field supervisor is dispatched to investigate the 
event and collect all relevant information required. All available reports, witness statements, and videos are reviewed 
by the Safety Department. 
 
The collected data is used to investigate if there is a pattern of accident types, locations or anything that may identify a 
causal factor. Once this investigation is completed a determination of preventability is made. 
 
The Safety Department maintains all documented processes, investigations, determinations, and data reports that are 
filed. All files are maintained in accordance with CDTA’s record retention policy. 
 
The determination process of all accidents will follow the same process: 

• All information is gathered pertaining to the accident, reports, pictures, video, and witness statements if 
available. 

• Safety Supervisor does the initial investigation and makes a recommendation on preventability. 
• Email is sent to the Superintendent(s) over seeing the employee to review, along with the Director of 

Transportation. 
Should there be any questions regarding the accident determination the Superintendent will reach out to the 
Superintendent of Safety to discuss. If it is agreed that the recommendation is not the right decision, then the change 
will be made to the recommendation in writing by the Chief Safety Officer or designee. The Chief Safety officer of 
designee will make the final decision of preventability when there is a disagreement to ensure consistency. If there is 
no objection, the recommendation will be final, and the Superintendent will notify the operator of the preventable 
determination.  
 
Discipline will be addressed as written in CDTA’s progressive discipline prosses. 
 
In the event the employee does not agree with the determination of the accident, he or she will be allowed to submit a 
request for their accident to be reviewed by the Accident Review Board. The accident review board will consist of the 
following: 

• Operations Superintendent that does not have direct oversight of the employee 
• Union Official that does not work in the division of the employee 
• Outside official with direct knowledge of accident investigation. This is usually a police officer from various 

municipalities 
 
All involved must receive training on the differences of fault vs. preventability. All parties must be impartial and 
come to a decision without any prejudice.  
 
Any hazards that may be a contributing factor to the event are documented and will be addressed with the appropriate 
parties to avoid any risk of a future event. All of these factors are part of the reduction and mitigation part of the 
Safety Risk Reduction Program to assist us in reducing the risk of vehicular and pedestrian safety events involving 
transit vehicles.  
Describe activities to monitor information reported through internal safety reporting programs. 

The internal reporting of safety for the transit system is provided to the Board of Directors on a monthly basis as part 
of the Monthly Non-Financial Report at the Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee. Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) are continuously monitored and reported in order to observe trends of the SMS hazard mitigation efforts. These 
KPIs are compared to the prior months and the same month of the previous year to show trends. If there are 
substantial increases or decreases an explanation is provided to the board. 
 
On a yearly basis, the Superintendent of Safety and the Chief Safety Officer provide a report and presentation to the 
Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee which provides an overview of the year, identification of system-wide 
safety issues, and how these will be addressed in the coming year. 
 
Although infrequent, if a safety event is of a substantial nature, it will be discussed with the Board at the Committee 
Meeting level. 
 
All safety concerns, either reported by employees, the general public, or as a result of incidents, are logged in a 
database. Subsequent mitigation actions implemented as a result are included with each entry. These are also 
classified as open or closed.  
 



 
  

Page | 15   

Management of Change 
Describe the process for identifying and assessing changes that may introduce new hazards or impact safety 
performance. 

The transportation industry is continually advancing and with that advancement is the potential for new hazards that 
will impact safety performance. To address this, CDTA has given the Safety Department the authority to take a more 
proactive approach. 
 
New technologies and modes of transportation administered by CDTA may be operated in a way that is different from 
past practices. This requires CDTA to be flexible and change infrastructure and operations after a new service is 
implemented. The Safety Department and the team managing a specific project will monitor its operations to 
determine if any unforeseen safety issues arise. 
 
The Safety Department collaborates on strategic planning efforts such as CDTA’s Transit Development Plan (TDP). 
This ensures the Safety Department a hands-on approach to the direction of the organization and future projects and 
policies that may be implemented. This allows the Safety Department to flag any potential issues that may arise. 
 
The Safety Department is co-author of sections of Project Management Plans (PMP’s) for major capital projects such as 
the Washington-Western and River Corridor Bus Rapid Transit lines. The PMP’s outline Safety & Security during 
construction and the role of the Safety Department in these projects. 
 
CDTA has conducted major service changes over the past decade related to county-wide route restructurings, 
implementation of BRT lines, and other major increases/decreases of service. The Safety Department is a part of the 
planning process of these service changes to provide necessary feedback (and eventual approval or disapproval) of 
routing and stops of new bus lines. This early involvement allows concepts that would be determined as unsafe to not 
progress past the planning process and alternatives created to still meet customer travel needs. 
 
The Safety Department works with the maintenance and I.T department when procuring new vehicles, updating 
current bus builds, and introducing new programs that can be used to safely operate and manage the vehicle and the 
routes it is serving. 
Continuous Improvement 
Describe the process for assessing safety performance. Describe the process for developing and carrying out plans to 
address identified safety deficiencies. 

Assessing Safety Performance 
 
The following are processes for assessing safety performance throughout the year annually: 

• Monthly monitoring by the CDTA Board of Directors (detail on page 8) 
• Data analysis of accidents by driver, by route, by stop, by geographic area, and by operating division. 

Focused monitoring allows anomalies to become apparent and related safety issues to be addressed. 
• CDTA has embarked on a new program identifying Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which will assist in 

monitoring nearly all operational activities. The KPIs include Total Accidents, Collisions, Non-Collisions, 
Preventable Accidents, and Non-Preventable Accidents. The frequency over time of these KPIs will be used 
to in the evaluation of hazard mitigation measures. Examples of the KPIs include: 

o Collisions: Vehicle operated by CDTA employee striking another vehicle, object, pedestrian, etc. 
o Non-Collisions – Safety Events 
o Preventable Accidents: Incident that occurred due to oversight by employee, i.e., delayed routine 

maintenance causing malfunction to vehicle. 
o Non-Preventable Accidents. 

• Risk Reduction Program 
o A review of accidents, injuries and incidents reported to NTD to reduce hazards, pedestrian 

incidents and injuries, and assaults on transit workers. 
o A review of the SMS to identify deficiencies and the agencies’ performance against safety 

performance targets set by the Safety Committee, for the safety reduction program, and general 
targets. 

o Training for de-escalation to assist in the reduction and mitigation of assaults on transit workers. 
o Utilizing the Safety Committee’s role in continuous improvement to monitor targets set by the 

Committee and assess the associated safety risks through the safety risk assessment process using 
the safety risk mitigation process.   

 
 
 



 
  

Page | 16   

CDTA has a joint labor-management safety committee comprised of labor selected front line employee 
representatives from Transportation and Maintenance, as well as Management representatives. This committee meets 
regularly to discuss safety issues and any recent incidents. The committee is focused on improving safety by reducing 
the number and rates of accidents, injuries, and assaults on transit workers by reviewing items such as visual 
impairments on bus routes, bus functionality, assault mitigation techniques and training.  
 
Accident Review Board – All accidents are investigated by the Accident Review Board. The ARB is comprised of a 
representative from the company, from the Union, and from an impartial outside agency, usually a Police Department. 
The representatives are selected from a pool of members based on availability and which division the employee works 
in. 
 
The SRM process may result in the implementation of changes to standard operating procedures within facilities or on 
the road. Changes will be communicated to employees via training and retraining. Significant changes may require 
immediate retraining of portions of the staff, while other changes will be included in regular employee training 
schedules (detailed further below). 
 
CDTA also regularly communicates safety incidents and resulting changes to policy or practice via safety bulletins 
posted visibly in employee areas. These bulletins may contain the results of an investigation following an incident, 
lessons learned, and other important information. Employees are encouraged to review these bulletins on a regular basis. 
 
The safety risk reduction program will be used to assess associated safety risk, mitigate associated safety risk by using 
the methods identified within this plan if performance targets set by the Safety Committee are not met.  
 
Additionally, if established annual safety performance targets set by the Safety Committee are not met, the agency will 
allocate its safety set-aside in the following fiscal year to safety-related projects eligible under 49 U.S.C. 5307 that are 
reasonably likely to help meet safety performance targets for the safety risk reduction program in the future. All plans 
will be carried out under the direction of the Account Executive.  
 

Safety Promotion 
Competencies and Training 
Describe the safety training program for all agency employees and contractors directly responsible for safety. 

Our training comprehensive safety training program includes all operational transit workers, maintenance workers, 
and transit workers directly responsible for safety.  
 
Maintenance Employees 
Completion of a safety training program that includes de-escalating training. 
Release from Training. 
Acknowledgment Form for Prevention of Harassment in the Workplace. 
Acknowledgement of Training Checklist for New Hires. 
Omnibus Transportation Testing Act Acknowledgement. 
Better Bus Procedures Final Wipe Down Evaluation (Cleaners Only.) 
Workplace Safety – Annual Training for Preventing Workplace injuries. 
 
CLEANERS AND CLEANER B ONLY: Are issued the below listed materials. 
Pre-trip Inspection, Radio Procedures, Service Island Procedures, Lock-Out/Tag-Out Procedures, Hotsy, CDL 
At discretion of management HELPER ONLY: 
Module 1: Tool Use and Shop Equipment Use and Safety Module 2: Introduction to Mechanics 
Module 3: Basic Preventative Maintenance 2nd CLASS ONLY: 
Module 1: Tool Use and Shop Equipment Use and Safety Module 2: Basic Electric 
Module 3: PMI Procedures and Standards Module 4: Chassis 
Module 5: Engine/Transmission Basics Module 6: Diagnostic Equipment Use Module 7: ADA Systems 
Module 8: Basic HVAC 
 
Operations Supervisor - Foreman 
All employees promoted to the role of Supervisor must go through a safety training program in the following areas 
before they can be released. Training consists of: 
 
1. Role of a Supervisor-Foreman - Gives an overview of what the expectations are of a Supervisor/Foreman. This 

introduction is done by the Chief Executive Officer, Director of Transportation, and Director of Maintenance. 



 
  

Page | 17   

2. LEADERSHIP 
o Defining Leadership 
o Styles of Leadership 
o Becoming a Leader 

 
3. COACHING FOR SUCCESS 

o Code of Conduct/ Suspension of Service 
o Coaching Vs. Discipline 
o Effective Coaching 
o CDTA Discipline Process 
o Background of Security at CDTA 
o Security Procedures and Protocols 
o Security Incident Review 
o NIMS-100 Program Review 
 

4. WORKPLACE SAFETY 
o Background of Workplace Safety at CDTA 
o On the Job Injury Statistics 
o Supervisor Investigation of On-the-Job Accidents 
o Web-Based Reporting/Photos 
o Background of Maintenance Department Activities 
o Discussion of Types and Risks of Bus Defects 
o Troubleshooting High Risk Bus Defects on the Road 
o Effective Management of Road Calls 
o Utilizing Spear to assist in work management. 
o De-Escalation Training 
o Safety Concern Identification and Reporting Training 
o Refresher Training 
 

5. QUALITY ASSURANCE 
o Review of CDTA Comment Types and Frequency 
o Supervisor’s Role in Complaint Investigation 
o Marketing and Customer Service 
o Managing Personnel & Work Assignments 
o Planning & Scheduling Work 
o Performance Oversight 
o Communication & Teamwork 
o Scheduled vs. Unscheduled Work 
o Maintenance & Performance Indicators 
o “Driving” Maintenance 
o Safety & Quality Control 

 
6. COMMUNICATION & TEAMWORK 

o Styles of Communication 
o Communicating Clearly 
o Teamwork 
o Program Wrap Up 

 
7. ACCIDENT/INCIDENT INVESTIGATION 

o Accident Investigation 
o Data Collection 
o Accident Claim Tracking 
o Accident Exercise 
o Taking Witness Statements 

 
8. DRUG & ALCOHOL POLICY 

o Drug and Alcohol Procedures/ Forms 
o Data Collection 
o Reasonable Suspicion 

 
Pedestrian Awareness – Talks about the hazards that pedestrians pose to large vehicles. 
Pre-Trip Inspections – Emphasizes the importance of inspecting the bus every day before leaving the property. 
Merging – Points out the hazards when changing lanes. 



 
  

Page | 18   

Safety concern identification and report training. 
 
All operations and maintenance personnel are re-trained on safety education aspects of this program bi-annually. 
 
Authority Staff 
Through the evaluation process all levels of management are responsible for ensuring that safety is part of each 
employee’s daily work function. Evaluations will be used to ensure compliance with all Authority and Departmental 
safety and security policies and procedures. An employee meeting expectation must: 

o Exhibit a conscientious approach to identify safety compromises in the immediate working environment. 
o Take the initiative to alleviate potential and existing hazards affecting self and other employees. 
o Promote all applicable safety aspects of the job responsibilities. 

 
Contractors 
General Contractor must submit OSHA 10 safety training cards for each person working at the site and keep them up 
to date as new personnel are added. The Construction Management Consultant will ensure contractors have on site, at 
all times, at least one person skilled in safety and health procedures and familiar with State and Federal safety and 
health regulations, whose responsibility it will be to monitor methods and procedures. This person shall be deemed 
qualified by the Contractor/Subcontractor by virtue of training and experience, will attend the pre- construction 
meeting and will review and approve all safety plans and procedures the Contractor/Subcontractor will employ in the 
performance of the work. 
 
All workers on a project will be OSHA trained. The Construction Management Consultant must have a Health & 
Safety Plan on file in the Field Office and be available to staff. Contractors and sub-contracts will be required to 
provide OSHA 10 cards and training certification to CDTA. The Construction Management Consultant will review 
each worker’s OSHA-10 card, photocopy and file with project records. 

 
 

Safety Communication 
Describe processes and activities to communicate safety and safety performance information throughout the 
organization. 

Management’s commitment to safety is outlined to all employees by their direct supervisors beginning on the first day 
of employment. The Safety Committee is intended to facilitate communication on safety-related matters between front 
line employees, management representatives, and the Chief Safety Officer. The employee reporting process is 
intended to facilitate the free exchange of information between all levels of the organization. Safety Incentive Awards 
are presented annually to those employees who meet safety standards established by the company. 
 
The Director of Safety & Training meets with all new operator classes and covers De-escalation Training, Radio 
Communications Training as it relates to life threatening situations, and Gang Violence Training. The balance of the material 
is covered by Training and Safety personnel. In addition to the initial training CDTA provides periodic security and 
emergency training to all employees. 
 
CDTA also regularly communicates safety incidents, including Safety Committee activities, and resulting changes to 
policy or practice via safety bulletins posted visibly in employee areas. These bulletins may contain the results of an 
investigation following an incident, lessons learned, and other important information. Employees are encouraged to 
review these bulletins on a regular basis. 
 
Internal Communications use different tools to communicate with CDTA employees. Methods ranging from e-mails 
to employee mailings, PowerPoint presentations and internal advertising are some of the ways employees are 
informed of corporate initiatives. As the company moves forward and explores new ideas and technology, the 
Communications Department will continue to identify needs and best ways to address them. 
 
COMMUNICATION TOOLS 
1. All User Email- “All User” email covers all CDTA employees, except Operators and Maintenance employees. 

This should not be a primary communication tool when the content is focused on the Operations staff. 
2. Internal Campaigns- Safety Campaigns are used to help promote a culture of safety within the organization. All 

internal campaigns must be created by the Chief Safety Officer in collaboration with the Director of Corporate 
Communications and the Marketing Department. 

3. PowerPoint Presentations – PowerPoint presentations are used for CDTA’s Board of Directors, Employee 
Forums, Training, and other Stakeholder meetings. 

4. Digital Signage – Safety information can be posted to digital boards located throughout CDTA facilities and 
fixed route vehicles. 



 
  

Page | 19   

5. Company Newsletter (iRide Express) – The company newsletter is produced five times a year (once a quarter and 
a special issue during the holiday season). It is used to communicate company news with employees and retirees. 
The Chief Safety Officer will work with operations and the Safety Committee to get the content that will be used 
by the Director of Corporate Communications and Marketing. 

6. Everbridge – The Everbridge system is a mass notification system used to reach a large number of employees at 
one time regarding accidents, incidents, and some corporate events. The CDTA Transportation Department is the 
primary user of Everbridge. All content being sent for safety must be approved by the Director of Corporate 
Communications and sent by the Chief Safety Officer. 

7. BLINK – Employee app dedicated to notifying all staff on safety initiatives. All content being sent for safety 
must be approved by the Director of Corporate Communications and sent by the Chief Safety Officer. 

8. Onboard Signage – Messages are programmed in the CAD/AVL system that allows for operators to communicate 
safety messages to the passengers through-out the trip as needed. In addition, safety messages are programmed to 
make announcements without operator involvement. 

List of Acronyms Used in the ASP 
Acronym Word of Phrase 

CRTC Capital Region Transportation Council 

CDTA Capital District Transportation Authority 

NYSDOT New York State Department of Transportation 

ARB Accident Review Board 

PTSB Public Transit Safety Board (New York State) 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 Memorandum 

 
January 21, 2026 
 
To:  Audit Committee Members 
  Frank Annicaro, Chief Executive Officer 
 
From:  Sarah Matrose, Internal Audit 
 
Subject: Annual Independence and Objectivity Statement 
 
Background: 
The International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing Standard 1100 
requires the internal audit activity to remain independent, and internal auditors must be objective 
in performing their work by maintaining an unbiased and independent approach to audits, 
including reporting any conflict that may arise. Internal auditors will have no direct operational 
responsibility or authority over any of the activities audited. Accordingly, internal auditors will 
not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgment. 
 
Standards Included in this Attestation: 
1110 - Organizational Independence. The chief audit executive must report to a level within the 
organization that allows the internal audit activity to fulfill its responsibilities. The chief audit 
executive must confirm to the board, at least annually, the organizational independence of the 
internal audit activity. 

1110.A1 - The internal audit activity must be free from interference in determining the scope of 
internal auditing, performing work, and communicating results. 

1111 – Direct Interaction with the Board. The chief audit executive must communicate and 
interact directly with the board. 

1120 - Individual Objectivity (Standard). Internal auditors must have an impartial, unbiased 
attitude and avoid any conflict of interest. 

1130 - Impairment to Independence or Objectivity (Standard). If independence or objectivity is 
impaired in fact or appearance, the details of the impairment must be disclosed to appropriate 
parties and the Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee. The nature of the disclosure will 
depend upon the impairment. 
 
Attestation: 
The CDTA Internal Audit Department complies with Standard 1100 in that it remains 
independent, and audits are completed free from interference and with objectivity.  



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 Memorandum 

 
January 21, 2026 
 
To:  Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee 
  Frank Annicaro, Chief Executive Officer 
 
From:  Sarah Matrose, Internal Audit 
 
Subject: Internal Audit Progress Report 
 
 
Quarterly Progress Items:    

• Annual Independence and Objectivity Statement* 
• Internal Audit Charter Review and Approval* 
• 19-A Follow-Up Audit Report* 
• Recap of External Audits Completed 

o Public Transportation Safety Board (PTSB) – NYS DMV   
o Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA)  
o Office of the State Comptroller (OSC) – Security Over Critical Systems  

 
On-Going Items: 

• Prevailing Wage Davis Bacon Act Audit 
• STAR / FLEX Efficiency Working Group 
• Out of Work / Return to Work 
• Company Wide Policy Review with Legal 
• Workplace Violence Prevention Program 
• Risk Assessment & Internal Audit Plan 

 
Professional Development Items: 

• Attended the Institute of Internal Audit Albany monthly meeting 
• Presented in the Management Fundamentals internal trainings 
• APTA Committee of Audit Professionals Fall/Winter meeting 
• NYPTA-Transit 101 Training 
• Participated in the Chief Audit Executive – Albany Roundtable meeting 
• NYSICA Fall Fraud Conference  

 
*Additional materials provided 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

December 30, 2025 
 
To:  Audit Committee Members 

Frank Annicaro, Chief Executive Officer 
  Jack Grogan, Director of Safety & Training 
   
From:  Sarah Matrose, Internal Auditor 
 
Subject: 19-A Follow-Up Audit 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The 19-A Follow-Up Audit consisted of a review of electronic 19-A records. Our audit objective 
was to determine that CDTA procedures and controls related to the 19-A process are adequate, 
effective, and efficient.  
 
The audit revealed that the controls are working as intended. The overall control environment 
has vastly improved based on the improvements Safety & Training has made to the process since 
the 19-A DMV Audit. A peer-review process for all required forms was implemented, as well as 
a more streamlined approach to file management in an effort to enhance the overall accuracy of 
the process. 
 
I would like to express my appreciation for the cooperation and assistance extended by the 
Safety & Training Department staff during the audit.  
  



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
  

BACKGROUND 
CDTA is required to comply with the Department of Motor Vehicle (DMV) New York State 
Vehicle & Traffic Law Article 19-A that sets strict guidelines required for bus operators to be 
qualified to carry passengers. Biannually, DMV conducts an audit of the last three (3) years of 
CDTA’s bus operator qualification files to ensure compliance. In January 2025, DMV issued a 
report of CDTA’s most recent audit that identified 19 violations and a civil penalty.  
 
After completion of the audit, the Safety & Training Department made substantial changes to the 
19-A process by implementing internal controls and re-aligning departmental responsibilities to 
ensure requirements are met.   
 
OBJECTIVE 
The objective of our audit was to determine that the implemented procedures and controls are 
adequate, effective, and efficient in ensuring CDTA is satisfying the Article 19-A requirements.  
 
DETAILED SCOPE 
The audit scope included a review of 45 operators 19-A files (10% of a population of 466 active 
operators as of 10/29/25). Testing included the following topics: 

• Reviewed the most recent DS-874 Physical for completion, accuracy, and evidence that a 
peer review was completed. 

• Reviewed the most recent DS-872 Annual Review for completion, accuracy, and 
evidence that a peer review was completed. 

• Reviewed the most recent DS-873 On-Board Observation for completion, accuracy, and 
evidence that a peer review was completed. 

 
RESULTS OF AUDIT 
The organization as a whole has made great strides in recognizing the importance of 19-A 
compliance. The results of the review showed that the controls put in place as a result of the 
audit are working as intended and no findings of significance were noted.  



 

Internal Audit Charter 
January 2026 

Capital District Transportation Authority 
Internal Audit Charter 

Purpose and Mission 
The purpose of CDTA’s internal audit department is to provide independent, objective assurance 
and consulting services designed to add value and improve CDTA’s operations. The mission of 
internal audit is to enhance and protect organizational value by providing risk-based and 
objective advice and insight by promoting a “no surprises” atmosphere. The internal audit 
department helps CDTA accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of governance, risk management, and control 
processes.  
 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing  
The internal audit department will govern itself by adherence to the mandatory elements of The 
Institute of Internal Auditors' International Professional Practices Framework, including the Core 
Principles for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics, the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, and the Definition of Internal 
Auditing. The internal audit department will report periodically to senior management and the 
Performance Monitoring/Audit Committee (PM/A Committee). 
 
Independence and Objectivity  
The internal audit department will ensure that the internal audit activity remains free from all 
conditions that threaten the ability of internal auditors to carry out their responsibilities in an 
unbiased manner, including matters of audit selection, scope, procedures, frequency, timing, and 
report content.  

The internal audit department will confirm to the PM/A Committee at least annually, the 
organizational independence of the internal audit department.  

Authority 
The internal audit department will report functionally to the PM/A Committee and 
administratively to the Chief Executive Officer. To establish, maintain, and assure that CDTA’s 
internal audit department has sufficient authority to fulfill its duties, the PM/A Committee will:  
 Approve the internal audit department’s charter.  
 Approve the risk-based internal audit plan. 
 Receive communications from the internal audit department on the internal auditor’s 

performance relative to its plan and other matters. 

The internal audit department will have unrestricted access to, and communicate and interact 
directly with, the PM/A Committee. 

The PM/A Committee authorizes the internal audit department to: 



Page 2 of 4 

 
Internal Audit Charter 

January 2026 

 Have full, free, and unrestricted access to all functions, records, property, and personnel 
pertinent to carrying out any engagement, subject to accountability for confidentiality and 
safeguarding of records and information. 

 Allocate resources, set frequencies, select subjects, determine scopes of work, apply 
techniques required to accomplish audit objectives, and issue reports.  

 Obtain assistance from the necessary personnel of CDTA, as well as other specialized 
services from within or outside CDTA, in order to complete the engagement. 

Scope of Internal Audit Activities  
The scope of internal audit activities encompasses, but is not limited to, objective examinations 
of evidence for the purpose of providing independent assessments to the PM/A Committee, 
management, and outside parties on the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, risk 
management, and control processes for CDTA. Internal audit assessments include evaluating 
whether: 
 Risks relating to the achievement of CDTA’s strategic objectives are appropriately 

identified and managed.  
 The actions of CDTA’s officers, directors, employees, and contractors are in compliance 

with CDTA’s policies, procedures, and applicable laws, regulations, and governance 
standards.  

 The results of operations or programs are consistent with established goals and objectives.  
 Operations or programs are being carried out effectively and efficiently.  
 Established processes and systems enable compliance with the policies, procedures, laws, 

and regulations that could significantly impact CDTA.  
 Information and the means used to identify, measure, analyze, classify, and report such 

information are reliable and have integrity.  
 Resources and assets are acquired economically, used efficiently, and protected 

adequately.  

The internal audit department will report periodically to senior management and the PM/A 
Committee regarding:  
 The internal audit department’s purpose, authority, and responsibility.  
 The internal audit department’s plan and performance relative to its plan.  
 The internal audit department’s conformance with The IIA’s Code of Ethics and 

Standards, and action plans to address any significant conformance issues.  
 Significant risk exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues, 

and other matters requiring the attention of, or requested by, the PM/A Committee.  
 Results of audit engagements or other activities.  
 Resource requirements.  
 Any response to risk by management that may be unacceptable to CDTA. 

The internal audit department may perform advisory and related client service activities, the 
nature and scope of which will be agreed with the client, provided the internal audit department 
does not assume management responsibility.  



Page 3 of 4 

 
Internal Audit Charter 

January 2026 

Opportunities for improving the efficiency of governance, risk management, and control 
processes may be identified during engagements. These opportunities will be communicated to 
the appropriate level of management.  

Responsibility 
The internal audit department has the responsibility to:  
 Submit, at least annually, to senior management and the PM/A Committee a risk-based 

internal audit plan for review and approval.  
 Communicate to senior management and the PM/A Committee the impact of resource 

limitations on the internal audit plan.  
 Review and adjust the internal audit plan, as necessary, in response to changes in 

CDTA’s business, risks, operations, programs, systems, and controls and communicate 
any significant interim changes to the PM/A Committee.  

 Ensure each engagement of the internal audit plan is executed, including the 
establishment of objectives and scope, the assignment of appropriate and adequately 
supervised resources, the documentation of work programs and testing results, and the 
communication of engagement results with applicable conclusions and recommendations 
to appropriate parties.  

 Follow up on engagement findings and corrective actions, and report periodically to 
senior management and the PM/A Committee any corrective actions not effectively 
implemented.  

 Ensure the principles of integrity, objectivity, confidentiality, and competency are applied 
and upheld.  

 Ensure the internal audit department collectively possesses or obtains the knowledge, 
skills, and other competencies needed to meet the requirements of the internal audit 
charter.  

 Ensure trends and emerging issues that could impact CDTA are considered and 
communicated to senior management and the PM/A Committee as appropriate.  

 Ensure emerging trends and successful practices in internal auditing are considered.  
 Establish and ensure adherence to policies and procedures designed to guide the internal 

audit department.  
 Ensure adherence to CDTA’s relevant policies and procedures, unless such policies and 

procedures conflict with the internal audit charter. Any such conflicts will be resolved or 
otherwise communicated to senior management and the PM/A Committee.  

Quality Assurance and Improvement 
The internal audit function strives to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal 
audit activity conducted within CDTA and identifies opportunities for improvement. The internal 
audit function strives to comply with relevant professional auditing standards.  
 
The Quality Assurance and Improvement Program includes internal and external assessments, in 
order to monitor and assess the overall effectiveness and quality of the internal audit functions 
activities. The internal assessment is conducted continuously with the completion of each audit 
activity in accordance with the Institute of Internal Auditors Standards. 



Page 4 of 4 

 
Internal Audit Charter 

January 2026 

 
Acknowledgement & Approval 
Inclusion of the Audit Charter Review in the PM/A Committee meeting agenda and corresponding 
meeting minutes serves as approval and acknowledgement unless otherwise noted in said minutes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



December 2026



REVENUE Actual Budget ($) Variance (%) Variance ($) Variance (%) Variance

1 Mortgage Tax 1,396,691$             1,054,167$            342,524$               32.49% 2,236,502$            23.57%

2 Customer Fares 1,607,294$             1,809,808$            (202,514)$              -11.19% (989,291)$              -6.07%

3 Facilities Income 379,153$                336,410$               42,743$                 12.71% 217,677$               7.19%

EXPENSES Actual Budget ($) Variance (%) Variance ($) Variance (%) Variance

4 Wages 5,905,747$             5,976,923$            (71,176)$                -1.19% (2,835,921)$           -5.27%

5 Health Benefits 1,278,730$             1,195,190$            83,540$                 6.99% (71,509)$                -0.66%

6 Purchased Transportation 1,113,735$             1,123,000$            (9,265)$                  -0.83% 551,964$               5.46%

7 Maintenance Services 551,609$                454,060$               97,549$                 21.48% 482,722$               11.81%

YTD Revenue 0.08%

YTD Expenses -3.23%

Revenue Summary

1

2

3

Expense Summary

4 Wages are under budget 1.2% for the month and 5.3% YTD.  Phase 2 of our realignment went into effect Nov 30th and December had a reduction of 5,500 paid

 operator hours compared to last December.

5 Health Benefits are over budget 7% for the month due health insurnace buy back going out on December.  YTD is under budget by 0.7%.

6 Purchased Transportation is under budget 0.83% for the month but 5.5% over budget YTD.  

7 Maintenance Services is 21.5% over budget in December and 1.8% YTD due to work that needed to be completed at the West Facility.

Note Overall, we are in a satisfactory budget position, with a surplus of $3.7 million.

Facilities Income is over budget 12.7% for the month and 7.2% YTD driven by parking revenue and West Facility rents.

Monthly Management Report (MMR) - December 2025

Executive Summary 

Current Month Year to Date

MRT is 32.5% over budget for the month and 23.6% over budget YTD.

Customer fares are 11.2% or $202k under budget, which is in line with last December fares.  YTD customer fares are 6.1% under budget.



Line of Credit

$19,711,683 $11,333,729

Advances to Capital District Transportation Committee 

$16,894,161

$324,279

$1,457,384

$50,657,939

$24,525,692

$578,485

$1,503,484

$41,185,188

$7,052,374

$2,327,133

$8,493,473

$2,377,275

Sub-Total Current Assets $95,945,021

$6,218,551

$2,339,985

$107,754,787

Materials, Parts and Supplies 

$3,720,844

Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB

$4,240,984

$9,213,739

Noncurrent Assets: 

$128,642,383$145,584,812Capital Assets, net 

Deferred outflows of resources: 

Deferred outflows of resources from pension 

Page 1

Total Liabilities and Net Position

Sub-Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Sub-Total Current Liabilities

Estimated Provision for Existing Claims and Settlements 

$480,710

Total for Net Position 

Net Position

Liabilities

Net Investment in Capital Assets 

Capital Lease Agreement 

Unrestricted 

Deferred inflows of resources: 

Other postemployment benefits 

Net Pension Liability 

$238,042,127

Total for Liabilities 

$0

Accrued Expenses 

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

MONTHLY MANAGEMENT REPORT

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Assets

Current Assets: 

Receivables: 

Mortgage Tax 

Federal Grants 

New York State Operating Assistance

Trade and Other 

Prepaid Expenses 

Cash 

Investments 

Dec-25 Dec-24

$5,747,818

$971,176

$6,404,604

$0

$16,298,635

Unearned Revenue 

Accounts Payable 

$238,042,127

$3,012,896

$7,386,458

$5,278,843

$3,633,334

Sub-Total Deferred outflows of resources: $10,125,448 $13,454,723

$5,361,308

$10,107,675

$18,481,878

Current Liabilities: 

$263,465,047Total for Assets 

$263,465,047

Deferred inflows of resources from pension 

$82,884,214

$155,222,503

$108,242,544

$38,379,964$39,316,956

$2,176,474

$108,241,228

$1,316 ($25,357,014)

Noncurrent Liabilities: 

$38,860,674$41,493,430

$108,241,228

$155,157,913

Deferred inflows of resources from OBEP 

Sub-Total Deferred inflows of resources

$95,247,195 $99,998,603

$66,811,397

$3,687,602

$15,374,334

$9,373,862

$68,313,217

$5,493,758

$16,647,266

$9,544,362



To Date Actual Annual Budget

$13,391,494 $12,871,000
$94,352,918 $129,342,309

$554,383 $630,000
$3,350,610 $4,186,924

$111,649,405 $147,030,233

$17,016,507 $23,698,326
$87,153,907 $119,545,669

$635,838 $1,162,721
$2,108,872 $2,592,516

$106,915,124 $146,999,233

$4,734,281

$8,125,000

($3,390,719)

$0
$0
$0
$0
$0
$0

$8,125,015
$0
$0

$1,978,281

$6,712,577

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Dec-25

     *Net Excess of Revenue over (under) Expenses

73%
104%

75%

88%

73%
55%
81%

72%

73%

76%

Page 2

     Depreciation

     Excess of Revenue over (under) Expenses

     Transfer from Capital Project Fund

     Transfer from Operating Fund

     *Contribution to required fleet replacement.

     Transfer from Risk Mngt Fund
     Transfer from Vehicle Replacement

     Transfer to Operating Fund

     Transfer to Vehicle Replacement
     Transfer to Capital Projects Fund

     Transfer from Worker's Comp Fund

     Revenue over (under) Expenses

     Transfer to Worker's Comp Fund

     Transfer to Risk Mngt Fund

REVENUE:

EXPENSE:

     AUTHORITY
     TRANSIT

          TOTAL EXPENSE

     TRANSIT
     ACCESS
     CDTA FACILITIES

     AUTHORITY

          TOTAL REVENUE

80%
     ACCESS
     CDTA FACILITIES



Annual

Actual Budget Variance % Variance Actual Budget Variance % Variance Budget

Mortgage Tax $1,396,691 $1,054,167 $342,525 32.49% $11,724,002 $9,487,500 $2,236,502 23.57% $12,650,000

Customer Fares $1,607,294 $1,809,808 ($202,514) -11.19% $15,298,983 $16,288,274 ($989,291) -6.07% $21,717,699

Advertising Revenue $152,083 $152,083 $0 0.00% $1,607,369 $1,368,750 $238,619 17.43% $1,825,000

Facilites Income $379,153 $336,410 $42,743 12.71% $3,245,370 $3,027,693 $217,677 7.19% $4,036,924

Interest Income $32,398 $8,333 $24,065 288.78% $290,512 $75,000 $215,512 287.35% $100,000

Misc. Income $33,785 $14,125 $19,660 139.19% $338,071 $127,125 $210,946 165.94% $169,500

$3,601,405 $3,374,927 $226,478 6.71% $32,504,308 $30,374,342 $2,129,965 7.01% $40,499,123

New York State Aid $5,766,267 $5,992,766 ($226,499) -3.78% $51,896,403 $53,934,890 ($2,038,487) -3.78% $71,913,186

County Aid $159,750 $159,750 $0 0.00% $1,437,751 $1,437,751 $0 0.00% $1,917,001

Federal Aid $2,554,660 $2,554,660 $0 0.00% $22,991,942 $22,991,942 $0 0.00% $30,655,923

Operating Grants $170,417 $170,417 $0 0.00% $1,533,750 $1,533,750 $0 0.00% $2,045,000

$8,651,094 $8,877,593 ($226,499) -2.55% $77,859,846 $79,898,333 ($2,038,487) -2.55% $106,531,110

$12,252,499 $12,252,519 ($20) 0.00% $110,364,154 $110,272,675 $91,479 0.08% $147,030,233

Salaries and Wages $5,905,747 $5,976,923 ($71,177) -1.19% $50,955,789 $53,792,310 ($2,836,521) -5.27% $71,723,081

Payroll Taxes $443,278 $433,327 $9,951 2.30% $3,707,505 $3,899,942 ($192,437) -4.93% $5,199,923

Health Benefits $1,278,730 $1,195,190 $83,540 6.99% $10,685,200 $10,756,709 ($71,509) -0.66% $14,342,278

Workers Compensation $200,037 $228,060 ($28,023) -12.29% $1,491,951 $2,052,538 ($560,587) -27.31% $2,736,718

Other Benefits $450,109 $459,374 ($9,265) -2.02% $4,214,891 $4,134,364 $80,527 1.95% $5,512,485

Professional Services $411,417 $495,867 ($84,450) -17.03% $3,846,036 $4,462,800 ($616,764) -13.82% $5,950,400

Materials & Supplies $200,826 $183,421 $17,405 9.49% $1,628,531 $1,650,788 ($22,256) -1.35% $2,201,050

Miscellaneous $97,391 $108,156 ($10,765) -9.95% $748,572 $973,401 ($224,829) -23.10% $1,297,868

Purchased Transportation $1,113,735 $1,123,000 ($9,265) -0.83% $10,658,964 $10,107,000 $551,964 5.46% $13,476,000

Maintenance Services $551,609 $454,060 $97,549 21.48% $4,569,266 $4,086,544 $482,722 11.81% $5,448,725

Liability - Claims $98,573 $39,583 $58,990 149.03% $584,746 $356,250 $228,496 64.14% $475,000

Utilities $232,023 $120,375 $111,648 92.75% $1,357,913 $1,083,375 $274,538 25.34% $1,444,500

Fuel $577,639 $669,747 ($92,109) -13.75% $5,368,946 $6,027,725 ($658,779) -10.93% $8,036,966

Parts, Tires, Oil $643,366 $641,917 $1,449 0.23% $5,672,270 $5,777,250 ($104,980) -1.82% $7,703,000

General Insurance $146,211 $123,520 $22,691 18.37% $1,216,552 $1,111,680 $104,872 9.43% $1,482,240

$12,350,689 $12,252,519 $98,170 0.80% $106,707,132 $110,272,675 ($3,565,543) -3.23% $147,030,233

($98,190) $0 ($98,191) $3,657,022 $0 $3,657,022 $0

Total Revenue and Assistance 

Expenses

Total EXPENSES 

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

Dec-25

Page 3

CONSOLIDATED
BUDGET VARIANCE REPORT This Month Year to Date

Operating Revenue

Total Operating Revenue

Operating Assistance

Total Operating Assistance

Surplus/Deficit



Annual

Actual Budget Variance % Variance Actual Budget Variance % Variance Budget

Mortgage Tax $1,396,691 $1,054,167 $342,525 32.49% $11,724,002 $9,487,500 $2,236,502 23.57% $12,650,000

Interest Income $32,232 $8,333 $23,899 286.78% $288,490 $75,000 $213,490 284.65% $100,000

Interest Inc-Invest/Change in Invest $137,026 $0 $137,026 0.00% $1,285,252 $0 $1,285,252 0.00% $0

Misc. Income - Authority $10,417 $10,083 $333 3.31% $93,750 $90,750 $3,001 3.31% $121,000

$1,576,365 $1,072,583 $503,782 46.97% $13,391,494 $9,653,250 $3,738,244 38.73% $12,871,000

Labor - Authority $912,388 $838,923 $73,465 8.76% $7,431,153 $7,550,310 ($119,157) -1.58% $10,067,080

Fringe - Authority $484,532 $483,961 $571 0.12% $4,409,973 $4,355,649 $54,324 1.25% $5,807,532

Materials & Supplies - Authority $16,391 $15,706 $684 4.36% $163,655 $141,356 $22,299 15.78% $188,475

Professional Services - Authority $226,519 $269,073 ($42,554) -15.82% $2,022,354 $2,421,654 ($399,300) -16.49% $3,228,873

Other Expenses - Authority $366,139 $367,197 ($1,058) -0.29% $2,989,372 $3,304,775 ($315,403) -9.54% $4,406,367

$2,005,969 $1,974,861 $31,108 1.58% $17,016,507 $17,773,745 ($757,237) -4.26% $23,698,326

($429,603) ($902,277) $472,674 ($3,625,014) ($8,120,495) $4,495,482 ($10,827,326)

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

Dec-25

NON-TRANSIT

Operating Revenue

Total Operating Revenue

BUDGET VARIANCE REPORT

Page 4

Expenses

Total Expenses

Surplus/(Deficit)

This Month Year to Date



Annual

Actual Budget Variance % Variance Actual Budget Variance % Variance Budget

Passenger Fares-Transit $889,930 $1,093,137 ($203,207) -18.59% $8,769,081 $9,838,232 ($1,069,151) -10.87% $13,117,643

Contracts - Transit $664,171 $664,171 $0 0.00% $5,977,542 $5,977,542 $0 0.00% $7,970,056

Advertising-Transit $139,583 $139,583 $0 0.00% $1,494,869 $1,256,250 $238,620 18.99% $1,675,000

Misc. Income - Transit $23,369 $4,042 $19,327 478.19% $251,581 $36,375 $215,206 591.63% $48,500

$1,717,053 $1,900,933 ($183,879) -9.67% $16,493,073 $17,108,399 ($615,325) -3.60% $22,811,199

State Aid $5,766,267 $5,992,766 ($226,499) -3.78% $51,896,403 $53,934,890 ($2,038,487) -3.78% $71,913,186

County Aid $159,750 $159,750 $0 0.00% $1,437,750 $1,437,751 $0 0.00% $1,917,001

Federal Aid - Transit $2,554,660 $2,554,660 $0 0.00% $22,991,942 $22,991,942 $0 0.00% $30,655,923

Other Grants - Federal $170,417 $170,417 $0 0.00% $1,533,750 $1,533,750 $0 0.00% $2,045,000

$8,651,094 $8,877,593 ($226,499) -3.78% $77,859,845 $79,898,333 ($2,038,487) -3.78% $106,531,110

$10,368,147 $10,778,526 ($410,378) -3.81% $94,352,918 $97,006,732 ($2,653,812) -2.74% $129,342,309

Labor - Maintenance $1,097,080 $1,035,853 $61,227 5.91% $9,123,514 $9,322,677 ($199,163) -2.14% $12,430,236

Labor - Transportation $3,393,978 $3,614,009 ($220,031) -6.09% $30,450,743 $32,526,078 ($2,075,335) -6.38% $43,368,105

Labor - STAR $470,459 $422,130 $48,329 11.45% $3,679,509 $3,799,170 ($119,661) -3.15% $5,065,560

Fringe $1,902,556 $1,825,033 $77,523 4.25% $15,791,101 $16,425,299 ($634,198) -3.86% $21,900,399

Materials & Supplies $1,385,030 $1,464,564 ($79,534) -5.43% $12,614,608 $13,181,075 ($566,467) -4.30% $17,574,766

Professional Services $260,633 $278,711 ($18,078) -6.49% $2,695,988 $2,508,395 $187,593 7.48% $3,344,527

Other Expenses $14,990 $16,132 ($1,141) -7.07% $145,966 $145,185 $781 0.54% $193,580

Purchased Transportation - STAR $871,440 $827,083 $44,357 5.36% $8,229,569 $7,443,750 $785,819 10.56% $9,925,000

Liability - Claims $98,573 $39,583 $58,990 149.03% $584,746 $356,250 $228,496 64.14% $475,000

Liability - Insurance $130,842 $119,125 $11,717 9.84% $1,039,649 $1,072,123 ($32,473) -3.03% $1,429,497

Utilities - Transit $134,292 $64,417 $69,876 108.47% $796,773 $579,750 $217,023 37.43% $773,000

Mat & Supplies - NX $68 $2,083 ($2,016) -96.76% $26,588 $18,750 $7,838 41.80% $25,000

Purchased Transportation - NX $137,775 $178,417 ($40,641) -22.78% $1,179,025 $1,605,750 ($426,725) -26.57% $2,141,000

Purchased Transportation - Vanpool $0 $0 $0 0.00% $67,200 $0 $67,200 #DIV/0! $0

Purchased Transportation - TX $58,891 $75,000 ($16,109) -21.48% $728,927 $675,000 $53,927 7.99% $900,000

$9,956,608 $9,962,139 ($5,531) -0.06% $87,153,907 $89,659,252 ($2,505,345) -2.79% $119,545,669

$411,539 $816,387 ($404,847) $7,199,011 $7,347,480 ($148,467) $9,796,640

Page 5

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

Dec-25

Total Revenue and Assistance

Expenses

Total Expenses 

Surplus/(Deficit)

Operating Revenue

Total Operating Revenue 

Operating Assistance

Total Operating Assistance 

TRANSIT
BUDGET VARIANCE REPORT This Month Year to Date



Annual

Actual Budget Variance % Variance Actual Budget Variance % Variance Budget

Contracts - Access $53,193 $52,500 $693 1.32% $552,360 $472,500 $79,860 16.90% $630,000

Interest Income $166 $0 $166 0.00% $2,022 $0 $2,022 0.00% $0

Misc. Income $0 $0 $0 0.00% $0 $0 $0 0.00% $0

Other Grants - State & Federal $0 $0 $0 0.00% $0 $0 $0 0.00% $0

$53,359 $52,500 $859 1.64% $554,383 $472,500 $81,883 17.33% $630,000

$53,359 $52,500 $859 1.64% $554,383 $472,500 $81,883 17.33% $630,000

Labor - Access $13,266 $48,300 ($35,034) -72.53% $100,385 $434,700 ($334,315) -76.91% $579,600

Fringe Benefits - Access $6,919 $4,200 $2,719 64.74% $57,631 $37,800 $19,831 52.46% $50,400

Purchased Transportation $45,628 $42,500 $3,128 7.36% $454,243 $382,500 $71,743 18.76% $510,000

Rent and Utilities - Access $1,643 $1,643 $1 0.03% $15,579 $14,791 $788 5.33% $19,721

Other Expenses - Access $2,000 $250 $1,750 700.00% $8,000 $2,250 $5,750 255.56% $3,000

$69,457 $96,893 ($27,436) -28.32% $635,838 $872,041 ($236,203) -27.09% $1,162,721

($16,098) ($44,393) $28,295 ($81,455) ($399,541) $318,085 ($532,721)

Page 6

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

Dec-25

Total Expenses

Surplus/(Deficit)

Operating Revenue

Total Operating Revenue

Total Revenue and Assistance

Expenses

ACCESS TRANSIT SERVICES
BUDGET VARIANCE REPORT This Month Year to Date



Annual

Actual Budget Variance % Variance Actual Budget Variance % Variance Budget

JLB Station & Garage $72,084 $80,000 ($7,916) -9.90% $709,238 $720,000 ($10,762) -1.49% $960,000

JLB Parking Revenue $242,624 $213,951 $28,673 13.40% $2,024,344 $1,925,556 $98,788 5.13% $2,567,408

JLB Advertising $12,500 $12,500 $0 0.00% $112,500 $112,500 $0 0.00% $150,000

SSTS $12,295 $3,458 $8,836 255.51% $32,947 $31,125 $1,822 5.85% $41,500

Greyhound $73 $0 $73 0.00% $619 $0 $619 0.00% $0

85 Watervliet Avenue $5,801 $6,250 ($449) -7.19% $52,206 $56,250 ($4,044) -7.19% $75,000

Interest Income $4,981 $333 $4,648 1394.42% $43,103 $3,000 $40,103 1336.77% $4,000

West Facility $41,295 $32,418 $8,877 100.00% $375,654 $291,762 $83,892 100.00% $389,016

$391,653 $348,910 $42,743 12.25% $3,350,610 $3,140,193 $210,417 6.70% $4,186,924

Labor $17,929 $17,625 $304 1.73% $168,889 $158,625 $10,264 6.47% $211,500

Fringe-Benefits $4,738 $2,756 $1,982 71.91% $49,989 $24,805 $25,185 101.53% $33,073

Professional Services $9,419 $8,333 $1,085 13.02% $79,532 $75,000 $4,532 6.04% $100,000

Insurance $7,634 $4,012 $3,621 90.25% $38,949 $36,111 $2,838 7.86% $48,148

Security $28,250 $16,667 $11,583 69.50% $134,835 $150,000 ($15,165) -10.11% $200,000

Facilities Upkeep $35,848 $22,917 $12,932 56.43% $145,423 $206,250 ($60,827) -29.49% $275,000

Facilities Repairs $26,399 $12,083 $14,315 118.47% $92,178 $108,750 ($16,572) -15.24% $145,000

Utilities $61,324 $28,250 $33,074 117.08% $286,007 $254,250 $31,757 12.49% $339,000

Materials & Supplies $1,404 $833 $571 68.46% $7,071 $7,500 ($429) -5.72% $10,000

Parking Garage $29,797 $41,667 ($11,870) -28.49% $395,740 $375,000 $20,740 5.53% $500,000

85 Watervliet Avenue $13,528 $8,607 $4,921 57.17% $68,089 $77,465 ($9,376) -12.10% $103,286

SSTS $22,597 $13,126 $9,472 72.16% $121,763 $118,132 $3,632 3.07% $157,509

West Facility $85,735 $39,167 $46,569 118.90% $519,966 $352,500 $167,466 100.00% $470,000

$345,041 $216,043 $128,998 59.71% $2,108,872 $1,944,387 $164,485 8.46% $2,592,516

$46,613 $132,867 ($86,255) $1,241,739 $1,195,806 $45,933 $1,594,408

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

Dec-25

CDTA FACILITIES
BUDGET VARIANCE REPORT This Month Year to Date

Operating Revenue

Total Operating Revenue 

Page 7

Expenses

Total Expenses 

Surplus/(Deficit)



$83,450

$25,000

$25,000

$25,000

$25,000

$419,515

% %

13.87% 38.04%

-5.08% 7.98%

51.71% 19.39%

16.44% 29.11%

Warren -20.92% 22.97%

19.15% 24.57%

$11,724,002

$9,411,562

Mortgage tax is unpredictable.  Average annual receipts over the past 20 years were $11.6 million with an annual low of $6.2 million and an annual high of $17.5 million.  

Page 8

FY 2025 $1,172,168

Current Month

FY 2026 $1,396,691

$1,180,836 $343,700

Total $1,396,691 $1,172,168 $224,523 $11,724,002 $9,411,562 $2,312,440

Schenectady $165,000 $141,703 $23,297 $1,524,536

($20,981) $155,821$79,329 $100,310 $834,205 $678,384

$1,568,313 $125,090

Saratoga $493,713 $325,438 $168,275 $3,767,852 $3,155,826 $612,026

Rensselaer $150,000 $158,022 ($8,022) $1,693,404

$446,695 $61,954 $3,904,006 $2,828,204 $1,075,802

Dec-25 Difference 2025 2024 Difference

Albany $508,649

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

MORTGAGE RECORDING TAX Fiscal Year to Date

Dec-24

5.07%

Total Accounts Payable $4,027,277 100.00% CITY OF SCHENECTADY

GREATER GLENS FALLS TRANSIT

CITY OF SARATOGA SPRINGS

31 - 60 12.42%

$204,249

$39,284

$500,355 DROPBIKE CORP

$419,537

Breakdown of outstanding receivables over 120 days.

$67,404

Current 81.53%

$87,500 CITY OF ALBANY

Amount % of Total

$3,283,389 OTHER

CITY HALL OF ALBANY II0.98%

90 & Over

NYS DEPT. OF TRANSPORTATION

$2,433,916

31 - 60 19.89% 31 - 60 $522,784 21.48%

100.00%

Over 120 15.26% Over 120 $582,072 23.92%

91 - 120 5.32% 91 - 120 $392 0.02%

61 - 90 15.07% 61 - 90 $233,601 9.60%

CAPITAL DISTRICT TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY MONTHLY 

MANAGEMENT REPORT

AGING OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Dec-25 Nov-25

Amount % of Total Amount % of Total

61 - 90

$1,095,067 44.99%

Year To Date

Current 44.46%

AGING OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Dec-25

$81,161

Oct-25

Total Accounts Receivable $2,749,149 100.00% Total Accounts Receivable

Receivables over 120 days: 

$419,537

$146,314

$414,333

$546,696

$1,222,269 Current



RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS Fund Balances Current Obligations

Risk Management Account (Self-Insured) $3,713,893 $998,520

Workers' Comp. Account (Self-Insured) $11,934,019 $8,375,342

Operating Account $11,050,952

Current Operating Reserve Obligations

Federal Operating Assistance in FY26 $4,375,000

Current Capital Reserve Obligations $13,416,598

Washington/Western BRT Project Match $3,344,205

LowNo Electrification Project Match $3,981,039

Redline Upgrade Project Match $1,856,078

Redline Upgrade Safe Streeets for All Match $1,323,600

FY26 5339 & 5307 Capital Match $341,775

Current Vehicle Replacement Reserve Obligations $1,069,726

Vehicle Replacement Funds FY25 $665,011
Vehicle Replacement Funds FY26 $338,746

All Investment Accounts are reviewed quarterly.

Average annual returns:
Risk Management 3.95%

Workers' Compensation 3.97%

Operating Fund 4.15%

Vehicle Replacement Fund 4.08%

Capital Project 4.07%

Highlight Summary

December 31, 2025

*  CDTA self insures the first two million of loss per occurrence of any lawsuit in addition to the current obligations and we reserve enough to cover one full loss.

Page 9



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

S.No

1

2

3

4a

4b

5

6

7

8

Monthly Performance Report Summary Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

S.No Metrics Dec-25 Dec-24 YOY % Change FY26 YTD FY25 YTD YTD % Change

Total Riders 1,288,444                            1,445,969                           -10.9% 13,833,637                  14,075,448                  -1.7%

System Wide OTP 73.8% 69.0% 7.0% 70.5% 69.2% 1.9%

297.7%

Total Days Not Worked 10.41% 9.09% 14.5% 8.96% 8.45% 6.1%

MDBSI 20,543                                  5,626                                  265.2% 17,163                          4,316                            

14.0%

STAR Riders 31,622                                  29,993                                5.4% 296,914                        276,499                        7.4%

STAR Missed Trips 3,858                                    2,263                                  70.5% 19,461                          17,075                          

0.3%

478                                58.4%

STAR On Time Performance (0-10 Minutes) 66.2% 73.6% -10.1% 77.4% 77.1%

STAR Customer Comments 99                                          58                                        70.7% 757                                

STAR ridership continues to show strong upward momentum both YOY and YTD. This growth reflects sustained demand for paratransit services and places additional pressure on capacity and 

scheduling. Ongoing evaluation of scheduling efficiency and mobility management options remains a focus to ensure service reliability.

STAR OTP declined YOY, while FY26 YTD performance remains stable and slightly improved. The YOY change reflects a slight change in reporting practices, as well as the influence of increased 

STAR ridership and higher reported missed trips. Trends will continue to be monitored to ensure service reliability.

STAR Customer Complaints and engagement increased YOY and YTD, reflecting higher service interaction and customer sensitivity. Complaint resolution performance improved, with 10-day 

closure rates exceeding prior-year benchmarks. STAR Paratransit and high-volume routes remain the primary drivers of complaints, requiring continued targeted oversight.

Key Points

Ridership declined YOY in December due to seasonal travel patterns and recent service transitions. FY2026 YTD ridership remains only slightly below prior-year levels, indicating overall demand 

stability. The elimination of Saratoga fixed routes 451 and 452 and the transition to Saratoga Flex Microtransit shifted trips from fixed route to microtransit reporting without reducing overall 

system usage.

System-wide OTP improved both YOY and YTD, demonstrating continued progress in operational reliability. Targeted schedule adjustments in Troy, including runtime and recovery time changes 

on Routes 100 and 106, contributed to improved schedule adherence. Operational performance gains continue to outpace ridership recovery, while ongoing monitoring remains necessary as 

service patterns evolve.

MDBSI increased YOY and YTD, reflecting higher mileage, demand pressures, and ongoing service rebalancing. Preventive maintenance discipline remains strong, supported by a 98.82% on-time 

PMI rate that reduces the risk of service failures. MDBSI variability reflects demand pressure, and overall reliability remains within acceptable ranges. Continued oversight of MDBSI trends and 

road calls remains a priority.

STAR missed trips increased YOY, primarily due to changes in dispatch practices. Requested pickup times are no longer adjusted to estimated pickup times, resulting in higher reported missed 

trips. This increase reflects a process change rather than reduced service capacity, with continued monitoring underway.

Attendance remains acceptable overall, though upward pressure persists within Transportation. Maintenance attendance remains stable and has minimal impact on operations. Transportation 

attendance variability highlights staffing and operational challenges, particularly during peak service periods. Proactive attendance management remains important to sustaining service 

reliability.

Staffing levels for supervisors and bus operators remain largely stable and within budget. Service rebalancing continues to improve alignment between staffing resources and ridership demand. 

Early-tenure engagement, retention strategies, and mentoring and refresher training remain key to maintaining workforce stability.



1,250,000
1,300,000
1,350,000
1,400,000
1,450,000
1,500,000
1,550,000
1,600,000
1,650,000
1,700,000
1,750,000
1,800,000
1,850,000

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 1,524,676

Total Riders

1,288,444Current:1,445,969

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26
Patronage / Mobility

Previous:

Page 1

1,250,000
1,300,000
1,350,000
1,400,000
1,450,000
1,500,000
1,550,000
1,600,000
1,650,000
1,700,000
1,750,000
1,800,000

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 1,493,326

Fixed Riders

1,256,822Current:1,415,976Previous:

66%

67%

68%

69%

70%

71%

72%

73%

74%

75%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5
MEAN: 71%

System Wide OTP

73.82%Current:68.97%Previous:



Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

0.00%
1.00%
2.00%
3.00%
4.00%
5.00%
6.00%
7.00%
8.00%
9.00%

10.00%
11.00%
12.00%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 1.40%

PMI Not On Time

0.6%Current:0.0%

Reliability

Previous:

Page 2

Percent of Trips Missed

Current:Previous:

75%

76%

77%

78%

79%

80%

81%

82%

83%

84%

85%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5
MEAN: 81%

Scheduled Work

77.9%Current:80.7%Previous:

2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000
18,000
20,000
22,000
24,000
26,000
28,000

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 11,427

MDBSI

20,543Current:5,626Previous:

0.00%

0.05%

0.10%

0.15%

0.20%

0.25%

0.30%

0.35%

0.40%

0.45%

0.50%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 0.19%

0.23% 0.07%



Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

12

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

30

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 21

Preventable Accidents

22Current:22

Safety

Previous:

Page 3

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

30

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 21

Non-Preventable Accidents

20Current:28Previous:

Maintenance Transportation Total

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

11%

12%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 9%

Percent Days Not Worked

10.4%Current:9.1%Previous:



Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

110
120
130
140
150
160
170
180
190
200
210
220

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 162

Fixed/Shuttle Complaints

204Current:168

Customer Service

Previous:

Page 4

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 10

Other Complaints

14Current:5Previous:

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%
22%
24%
26%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 9%

Complaints Not Addressed in Ten Days

10.7%Current:9.5%Previous:

680,000

700,000

720,000

740,000

760,000

780,000

800,000

820,000

840,000

860,000

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 779,947

Website Page Views

822,162Current:737,417Previous:



Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

27,000

28,000

29,000

30,000

31,000

32,000

33,000

34,000

35,000

36,000

37,000

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 31,345

STAR Riders

31,622Current:29,993

STAR Service

Previous:

Page 5

66%

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

84%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 77%

On-Time Performance (0-10 Minutes)

66.2%Current:73.6%Previous:

99Current: 58Previous: Current:Previous:

Transported Late No Shows Not Transported

0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400
1,600
1,800
2,000
2,200
2,400

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

Missed Trips

3,8582,263

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 67

Customer Complaints



274221

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

10,600
10,800
11,000
11,200
11,400
11,600
11,800
12,000
12,200
12,400
12,600
12,800
13,000
13,200

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 12,126

Reservation Calls

13,000Current:10,716

STAR Service

Previous:

Page 6

Current:Previous:

6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%
22%
24%
26%
28%
30%
32%
34%

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5

MEAN: 15%

Reservation Calls in Queue Over Five Minutes

31.5%

Current:

20.2%

Previous:

180

200

220

240

260

280

300

320

340

Ja
n'2

4
Fe
b'2

4
Ma

r'2
4

Ap
r'2
4

Ma
y'2
4

Ju
n'2

4
Ju
l'2
4

Au
g'2

4
Se
p'2

4
Oc

t'2
4

No
v'2
4

De
c'2

4
Ja
n'2

5
Fe
b'2

5
Ma

r'2
5

Ap
r'2
5

Ma
y'2
5

Ju
n'2

5
Ju
l'2
5

Au
g'2

5
Se
p'2

5
Oc

t'2
5

No
v'2
5

De
c'2

5
MEAN: 257

Applications Received



Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26
Definitions Page 7

Total Riders – Includes fixed route, STAR, NX, cash fare, Navigator, contracts (primarily UA), employees, and special events/trolley. 
Fixed Riders – Includes fixed route, NX, cash fare, Navigator, contracts (primarily UA), employees, and special events/trolley. 
System Wide OTP % – On-time performance: The percentage of departures that occurred between 5 minutes late and 1 minute early. This is calculated across all time points in all routes in the system except at
the last time point of a route, which calculates On-Time as between 5 minutes late and 15 minutes early. Departures more than 30 minutes late or more than 15 minutes early are excluded along with School Trips,
Shopping Trips, and NX routes. 
PMI – Not on Time – A Preventive Maintenance Inspection (PMI) is a routine (periodic) service and examination of the vehicle to identify potential defects before they fail. This measure is the work orders
completed within 500 miles before and 500 miles after the scheduled mileage (6,000), divided by the number of PMI’s done for the month. 
Percent of Trips Missed – Missed trips collected by dispatchers divided by total trips planned. Missed trips include those due to mechanical issues and operator availability. 
Scheduled Work – Unscheduled work is anything identified during a driver vehicle inspection, or caused by a breakdown. Scheduled work is anything else (primarily as a result of a PMI). This metric is the radio
of scheduled work to unscheduled work. 
MDBSI – Mean distance between service interruptions: Total Miles Operated divided by number of service interruptions. A service interruption is defined as Incident, accident, operator running late, traffic delays,
tire issues, etc., causing a service interruption (delay) of 5 minutes or more. 
Preventable Accidents – An accident is considered preventable if it is due to an operator’s failure to drive in a safe and professional manner. Accident categorizations may experience minor fluctuations after the
fact for the prior month (after this report is generated). 
Non-Preventable Accidents – An accident is considered non-preventable if the operator did everything that is reasonably expected of a defensive driver to avoid the accident. Accident categorizations may
experience minor fluctuations after the fact for the prior month (after this report is generated). 
Percent Days Not Worked – Total workdays scheduled in the Maintenance and Transportation departments divided by the total number of days not worked. Days not worked can be due to disability/workman's
compensation, disqualification, excused time, FMLA, leave of absence, missed/late time, sick leave, suspension, or unexcused absence. 
Fixed/Shuttle Complaints – Any comments/complaints related to our regular route network, including the Northway Xpress. These are generally related to the on-street service expectations of our customers,
from operator conduct to on time performance. 
Other Complaints – This category is for comments tied to any claims, service requests, fare disputes, or anything related to FLEX and any other non-categorized comments. 
Complaints Not Addressed in 10 Days – Comments are submitted, reviewed, assigned and investigated by division. Once investigation is complete and customer is contacted, complaint is "addressed". 
Website Page Views – This measures how many times someone has viewed an entire page including all text, images, etc. Alternatively, visits are defined as a series of hits from any particular address (source
location). If any two hits are separated by 30 minutes or more, typically two visitors are counted.

Definitions (STAR) 
STAR Riders – Actual (not scheduled) ridership, including personal care assistants and other passengers. 
STAR On-Time Performance - Percentage of bookings which were on-time for both their pick-up and, where applicable, their drop-off. A pick-up is considered on-time if the vehicle arrived no more than 10
minutes after the pick-up scheduled time. If the booking has a drop-off scheduled time (such as in the case of a doctor appointment), the vehicle must also arrive at the drop-off no later than that scheduled time
to be considered on-time. If the booking has no drop-off scheduled time, then the drop-off is not considered for on-time performance. In instances where the vehicle arrived at the pick-up but the client did not
take the trip (such as no-shows, missed trips and cancels-at-door), on-time performance is only judged by pick-up arrival time since the drop-off cannot be performed. Only considers trips for which data entry is
complete and has passed a quality check. This data is one month behind all other data. 
STAR Missed Trips - Count of monthly STAR trips where the client was transported late outside of the 25-minute window, did not take the trip and also did not cancel, or the client was not transported because
STAR was too late. 
STAR Reservation Calls in Queue Over 5 Minutes - Count of times customers had to wait for over five minutes before being connected with a STAR reservationist after selecting to do so. 
STAR Customer Comments/Complaints - Number of comments or complaints related to STAR service. 
STAR Applications Received - Counts every client whose application has been received and entered in Trapeze.



LY TR (L) CY TR (L) LY YTD TR (R) CY YTD TR (R)

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

1,600,000

1,800,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000
5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000
8,000,000

9,000,000

10,000,000
11,000,000

12,000,000

Current Period YTD

1,445,9691,445,969
1,288,4441,288,444

14,075,44814,075,448 13,833,63713,833,637

Total Riders

-10.9%

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26
Patronage / Mobility

Monthly % Change

Page 1

Fixed Riders

System Wide OTP

YTD % Change -1.7%

LY FR (L) CY FR (L) LY YTD FR (R) CY YTD FR (R)

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

1,600,000

1,800,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

9,000,000

10,000,000

11,000,000

Current Period YTD

1,415,9761,415,976
1,256,8221,256,822

13,798,85413,798,854 13,536,72313,536,723

Monthly % Change -11.2% YTD % Change -1.9%

LY SW OTP (L) CY SW OTP (L) LY YTD SW OTP (R) CY YTD SW OTP (R)

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

Current Period YTD

Monthly % Change 7.0% YTD % Change 1.9%

69.0% 73.8%
69.2% 70.5%



LY PMI NOT (L) CY PMI NOT (L) LY YTD PMI-NOT (R) CY YTD PMI-NOT (R)

0.0%

0.4%

0.8%

1.2%

1.6%

2.0%

2.4%

2.8%

0.0%
0.2%
0.4%
0.6%
0.8%
1.0%
1.2%
1.4%
1.6%
1.8%
2.0%
2.2%
2.4%

Current Period YTD

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

PMI Not On Time

Reliability Page 2

Percent of Trips Missed

Scheduled Work MDBSI

-51.3%YTD % Change0.6%Monthly % Change

0.00%

2.37%

1.15%

0.63%

LY SW (L) CY SW (L) LY YTD SW (R) CY YTD SW (R)

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

Current Period YTD

Monthly % Change -3.5% YTD % Change -2.6%

80.7% 77.9%

81.4% 79.3%

LY MT% (L) CY MT% (L) LY YTD MT% (R) CY YTD MT% (R)

0.00%
0.02%
0.04%
0.06%
0.08%
0.10%
0.12%
0.14%
0.16%
0.18%
0.20%
0.22%
0.24%

0.00%

0.04%

0.08%

0.12%

0.16%

0.20%

0.24%

0.28%

Current Period YTD

Monthly % Change -69.9% YTD % Change -74.0%

0.23%

0.07%

0.30%

0.08%

LY MDBSI (L) CY MDBSI (L) LY YTD MDBSI (R) CY YTD MDBSI (R)

0
2,000
4,000
6,000

8,000
10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000
18,000
20,000
22,000

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

Current Period YTD

4,3164,316

17,16317,163

Monthly % Change 265.2% YTD % Change 297.7%

5,626

20,543



Percent Days Not Worked

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

Preventable Accidents

Safety Page 3

Non-Preventable Accidents

LY PA (L) CY PA (L) LY YTD PA (R) CY YTD PA (R)

0
2
4
6

8
10
12
14
16
18
20
22

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Current Period YTD

2222 2222
181181 182182

Monthly % Change 0.0% YTD % Change 0.6%

YTD % ChangeMonthly % Change 21.7%

LY TDNW (L) CY TDNW (L) LY MDNW (L) CY MDNW (L) LY Tot (L) CY Tot (L) LY YTD TDNW (R) CY YTD TDNW (R) LY YTD MDNW (R) CY YTD MDNW (L)

LT YTD Tot (R) CY YTD Tot (R)

0.00%
1.00%
2.00%
3.00%
4.00%
5.00%
6.00%
7.00%
8.00%
9.00%

10.00%
11.00%
12.00%

0.00%

1.00%
2.00%

3.00%
4.00%

5.00%
6.00%

7.00%
8.00%

9.00%
10.00%

Current Period YTD

LY NPA (L) CY NPA (L) LY YTD NPA (R) CY YTD NPA (R)

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20
22
24
26
28

0
20
40
60

80
100
120
140
160
180
200
220

Current Period YTD

2828

2020
179179

209209

Monthly % Change -28.6% YTD % Change 16.8%

8.5%

7.0%

7.0%

6.0%

9.2%
11.2%

8.8%

9.7%

9.1%
10.4% 8.4% 9.0%

-16.7% 14.5% 10.3% -14.7% 6.1%



LY CNA (L) CY CNA (L) LY YTD CNA (R) CY YTD CNA (R)

0.0%

0.4%

0.8%

1.2%

1.6%

2.0%

2.4%

2.8%

3.2%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

Current Period YTD

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

Fixed/Shuttle Complaints

Customer Service Page 4

Other Complaints

Complaints Not Addressed in Ten Days Website Page Views

LY Fix/Shut (L) CY Fix/Shut (L) LY YTD Fix/Shut (R) CY YTD Fix/Shut (R)

0
20
40
60

80
100
120
140
160
180
200
220

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Current Period YTD

168168

204204

1,4061,406

1,6911,691

Monthly % Change 21.4% YTD % Change 20.3%

LY WPV (L) CY WPV (L) LY YTD WPV (R) CY MTD WPV (R)

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

800,000

900,000

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

Current Period YTD

737,417737,417
822,162822,162 7,039,3447,039,344 7,089,2427,089,242

Monthly % Change 11.5% YTD % Change 0.7%

LY Other (L) CY Other (L) LY YTD Other (R) CY YTD Other (R)

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14

0
10
20
30

40
50
60
70
80
90
100
110

Current Period YTD

55

1414

8888

103103

Monthly % Change 180.0% YTD % Change 17.0%

Monthly % Change 12.6%

9.5% 10.7%

5.6%

14.6%

YTD % Change 159.2%



Missed Trips

LY OTP (L) CY OTP (L) LY YTD OTP (R) CY YTD OTP (R)

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

Current Period YTD

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

STAR Riders

STAR Service Page 5

On-Time Performance (0-10 Minutes)

LY SR (L) CY SR (L) LY YTD SR (R) CY YTD SR (R)

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

16,000

20,000

24,000

28,000

32,000

0

40,000

80,000

120,000

160,000

200,000

240,000

280,000

Current Period YTD

29,99329,993 31,62231,622 276,499276,499
296,914296,914

Monthly % Change 5.4% YTD % Change 7.4%

73.6%

66.2%

77.1%
77.4%

Monthly % Change -10.1% YTD % Change 0.3%

Monthly % Change 96.2% 36.7% 110.1% YTD % Change 11.4% 15.7% 21.4%

LY TL (L) CY TL (L) LY NS (L) CY NS (L) LY NT (L) CY NT (L) LY YTD TL (R) CY YTD TL (R) LY YTD NS (R) CY YTD NS (R) LT YTD NT (R) CY YTD NT (R)

0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400
1,600
1,800
2,000
2,200
2,400

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

Current Period YTD

1,1631,163

2,2822,282

1,0011,001

1,3681,368

9999 208208

8,0498,049
8,9668,966

8,2588,258
9,5549,554

775775 941941



LY RC  +5 Min (L) CY RC  +5 Min (L) LY YTD RC +5 Min (R) CY YTD RC +5 Min (R)

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

16.0%

20.0%

24.0%

28.0%

32.0%

0.0%
2.0%
4.0%
6.0%
8.0%
10.0%
12.0%
14.0%
16.0%
18.0%
20.0%
22.0%
24.0%

Current Period YTD

Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26

Reservation Calls

STAR Service Page 6

Reservation Calls in Queue Over Five Minutes

Customer ComplaintsApplications Received

LY CC  (L) CY CC  (L) LY YTD CC (R) CY MTD CC (R)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Current Period YTD

5858

9999

478478

757757

LY AR (L) CY AR (L) LY YTD AR (R) CY MTD AR (R)

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180
200
220
240
260
280

0
200
400
600
800
1,000
1,200
1,400
1,600
1,800
2,000
2,200
2,400
2,600

Current Period YTD

221221

274274
2,3612,361 2,4402,440

Monthly % ChangeMonthly % Change 70.7%24.0% YTD % ChangeYTD % Change 58.4%3.3%

LY RC  (L) CY RC  (L) LY YTD RC (R) CY MTD RC (R)

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000
9,000

10,000
11,000
12,000
13,000

0
10,000
20,000
30,000
40,000
50,000
60,000
70,000
80,000
90,000
100,000
110,000
120,000

Current Period YTD

10,71610,716

13,00013,000
108,259108,259 113,645113,645

Monthly % Change 21.3% YTD % Change 5.0%

20.2%

31.5%

11.1%

22.1%

Monthly % Change 56.0% YTD % Change 98.3%



Monthly Performance Report Period: Dec'25 Meeting: Jan'26
Definitions Page 7

This page provides insights into current month and Year-To-Date (YTD) performance, including percentage changes compared to the same period last year.

Total Riders – Includes fixed route, STAR, NX, cash fare, Navigator, contracts (primarily UA), employees, and special events/trolley. 
Fixed Riders – Includes fixed route, NX, cash fare, Navigator, contracts (primarily UA), employees, and special events/trolley. 
System Wide OTP % – On-time performance: The percentage of departures that occurred between 5 minutes late and 1 minute early. This is calculated across all time points in all routes in the system except at the last time point of a
route, which calculates On-Time as between 5 minutes late and 15 minutes early. Departures more than 30 minutes late or more than 15 minutes early are excluded along with School Trips, Shopping Trips, and NX routes. 
PMI – Not on Time – A Preventive Maintenance Inspection (PMI) is a routine (periodic) service and examination of the vehicle to identify potential defects before they fail. This measure is the work orders completed within 500 miles
before and 500 miles after the scheduled mileage (6,000), divided by the number of PMI’s done for the month. 
Percent of Trips Missed – Missed trips collected by dispatchers divided by total trips planned. Missed trips include those due to mechanical issues and operator availability. 
Scheduled Work – Unscheduled work is anything identified during a driver vehicle inspection, or caused by a breakdown. Scheduled work is anything else (primarily as a result of a PMI). This metric is the radio of scheduled work to
unscheduled work. 
MDBSI – Mean distance between service interruptions: Total Miles Operated divided by number of service interruptions. A service interruption is defined as Incident, accident, operator running late, traffic delays, tire issues, etc., causing a
service interruption (delay) of 5 minutes or more. 
Preventable Accidents – An accident is considered preventable if it is due to an operator’s failure to drive in a safe and professional manner. Accident categorizations may experience minor fluctuations after the fact for the prior month
(after this report is generated). 
Non-Preventable Accidents – An accident is considered non-preventable if the operator did everything that is reasonably expected of a defensive driver to avoid the accident. Accident categorizations may experience minor fluctuations
after the fact for the prior month (after this report is generated). 
Percent Days Not Worked – Total workdays scheduled in the Maintenance and Transportation departments divided by the total number of days not worked. Days not worked can be due to disability/workman's compensation,
disqualification, excused time, FMLA, leave of absence, missed/late time, sick leave, suspension, or unexcused absence. 
Fixed/Shuttle Complaints – Any comments/complaints related to our regular route network, including the Northway Xpress. These are generally related to the on-street service expectations of our customers, from operator conduct to
on time performance. 
Other Complaints – This category is for comments tied to any claims, service requests, fare disputes, or anything related to FLEX and any other non-categorized comments. 
Complaints Not Addressed in 10 Days – Comments are submitted, reviewed, assigned and investigated by division. Once investigation is complete and customer is contacted, complaint is "addressed". 
Website Page Views – This measures how many times someone has viewed an entire page including all text, images, etc. Alternatively, visits are defined as a series of hits from any particular address (source location). If any two hits
are separated by 30 minutes or more, typically two visitors are counted. 

Definitions (STAR) 
STAR Riders – Actual (not scheduled) ridership, including personal care assistants and other passengers. 
STAR On-Time Performance - Percentage of bookings which were on-time for both their pick-up and, where applicable, their drop-off. A pick-up is considered on-time if the vehicle arrived no more than 10 minutes after the pick-up
scheduled time. If the booking has a drop-off scheduled time (such as in the case of a doctor appointment), the vehicle must also arrive at the drop-off no later than that scheduled time to be considered on-time. If the booking has no
drop-off scheduled time, then the drop-off is not considered for on-time performance. In instances where the vehicle arrived at the pick-up but the client did not take the trip (such as no-shows, missed trips and cancels-at-door), on-time
performance is only judged by pick-up arrival time since the drop-off cannot be performed. Only considers trips for which data entry is complete and has passed a quality check. This data is one month behind all other data. 
STAR Missed Trips - Count of monthly STAR trips where the client was transported late outside of the 25-minute window, did not take the trip and also did not cancel, or the client was not transported because STAR was too late. 
STAR Reservation Calls in Queue Over 5 Minutes - Count of times customers had to wait for over five minutes before being connected with a STAR reservationist after selecting to do so. 
STAR Customer Comments/Complaints - Number of comments or complaints related to STAR service. 
STAR Applications Received - Counts every client whose application has been received and entered in Trapeze. 

Percentage Change Calculation: Percentage Change = ((Current Year Value − Last Year Value) / Last Year Value) × 100


	02 PMA Committee Agenda 20262101
	CDTA COMMITTEE AGENDA
	Performance Management/Audit Committee
	Wednesday, January 21, 2026 | 12:00 PM
	Microsoft Teams & 110 Watervliet Ave

	03 PMA Minutes 20260121
	Consent Agenda Items

	04a PMA Agenda Action Sheet - CSched
	04b PMA Contract Award Certification - CSched
	05a PMA Action Item  Procurement Surplus
	05b PMA Procurement Report CY25 FINAL 12.29.25
	05c PMA Board of Directors rev 12.23.25
	Sheet1

	06a PMA SMS Agenda item 01.21.26
	06c PMA CDTA PTASP - 2026 Final
	Introduction
	Agency Background
	Transit Agency Information
	Plan Development, Approval, and Updates
	Safety Performance Targets
	Safety Management Policy
	Safety Risk Management
	Safety Assurance
	List of Acronyms Used in the ASP

	07a PMA Annual Independence and Objectivity Statement - 2026
	07b PMA January 2026 - Performance Monitoring Audit Committee Agenda Memo
	07c PMA 19-A Audit Report Final
	07d PMA Audit Charter - 2026
	Purpose and Mission

	08 PMA MMR with ES December 2025
	09a PMA Stop Light Page - 202601
	09b Board Perf Reports 202601
	09c PMA Monthly YTD Performance Metrics Comparison - 202601

